

Viktoria Jermolajeva

# The Bunkers Convention – Selected aspects of the liability and compensation regime for bunkers pollution damage

Master thesis 30 credits (30 ECTS)

Lars-Göran Malmberg

Master´s Programme in Maritime Law

Spring 2010

# **Contents**

SU	SUMMARY		
ΑB	BREVIATIONS	2	
1	INTRODUCTION	4	
1.	1 Background	4	
1.3	2 Purpose	4	
1.3	3 Method and material	5	
1.4	4 Disposition and delimitation	6	
1.	5 Terminology	6	
2	THE BUNKERS CONVENTION – LAST LINK IN THE INTERNATIONAL LIABILITY REGIME FOR SHIP-SOURCE POLLUTION	8	
2.	Overview of the international liability and compensation regime fo marine pollution	r 8	
2.	2 Legislative background of the Bunkers Convention	12	
	2.2.1 Preparatory work on the Bunkers Convention	12	
	2.2.2 Factors calling for reform	14	
	2.2.2.1 The statistics	14	
	2.2.2.2 Technical factors	15	
	2.2.2.3 No uniform liability regime	16	
	2.2.3 Adoption of the Bunkers Convention	17	
3	MAIN FEATURES OF THE BUNKERS CONVENTION	19	
3.	1 The purpose of the Convention	19	
3.	2 Definitions	19	
	3.2.1 Ship	19	
	3.2.2 Shipowner	20	
	3.2.3 Bunker oil	21	
	3.2.4 Pollution damage	21	
3.	3 The scope of application	22	
3.	4 Scope of liability	23	
	3.4.1 Wide range of liable persons	23	
	3.4.2 Strict liability	26	
	3.4.3 Exclusions from liability	26	
	3.4.4 Limitation of liability	27	

	3.5	Compulsory insurance	28	
	3.5	.1 Compulsory insurance requirement	28	
	3.5	.2 Insurance certificates	30	
	3.6	Direct action against the insurer	31	
	3.6	.1 Claimants' right of direct action	31	
	3.6	.2 Defences available to the insurer	32	
	3.6	.3 Insurer's right of recourse	33	
4	S	ELECTED ISSUES UNDER THE BUNKERS CONVENTION	35	
	4.1	Compatibility of the Bunkers Convention with other international regimes	35	
	4.1	.1 Compatibility with the CLCs	35	
	4.1	.2 Compatibility with Limitation Regimes, LLMCs particularly	36	
	4	.1.2.1 Inconsistency regarding "pollution damage"	37	
	4	.1.2.2 Inconsistency regarding "ship"	42	
	4.2	Does the Bunkers Convention ensure the adequate compensation for pollution damage?	43	
	4.2	.1 No supplementary layer of compensation	43	
	4.2	.2 Does the strict liability imposed on several defendants increase the prospects of compensation?	44	
	4.2	.3 Funds available in case of bunkers pollution incident	46	
	4.2	.4 Bunkers pollution claims data	48	
	4.3	Adequacy of the Convention	50	
	4.3	.1 No uniform limitation regime	50	
	4.3	.2 No priority for responder immunity	52	
	4.3	.3 The certification system – how advantageous it is?	54	
	4	.3.3.1 Administrative burden corollary to the requirement of insurance certificates	55	
	4	.3.3.2 Issuing certificates – a bureaucratic problem?	56	
	4	.3.3.3 Certificates for ships registered in States non-parties	56	
	4	.3.3.4 Offshore units – additional burden	57	
	4	.3.3.5 Achievement of certification regime	58	
5	С	ONCLUSIONS	61	
В	BIBLIOGRAPHY			
T	TABLE OF CASES			
Α	APPENDIX: TEXT OF THE BUNKERS CONVENTION			

# **Summary**

The adoption of the International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage 2001 plugs a gap in the otherwise comprehensive international liability and compensation regime for ship-source pollution. Although liability for bunkers pollution from tankers was partially regulated by other civil liability regimes, bunker spills pollution from other types of vessels was left uncovered by any international compensation system and thus, had to be dealt with under national laws of the States. Therefore, the pursuit of uniformity, in the light of significantly increased bunkers capacity in many modern vessels, prompted the International Maritime Organization to render the issue of adoption of an international instrument devoted to bunkers pollution a high priority. As a result, the Bunkers Convention was adopted in March 2001 and subsequently entered into force in November 2008.

The provisions of the Bunkers Convention are largely modelled on their counterparts in the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage 1992, though on several issues the Bunkers Convention follows its own path. The Bunkers Convention establishes strict liability for several persons, who in one way or another are responsible for the operation of the vessel. The strict liability is coupled with right to limitation, though no separate limitation regime is provided by the Convention. Consequently, on the issue of liability limits, the Bunkers Convention is dependent on other national and international limitation regimes, which would be applicable in each incident. The compulsory insurance and certification requirements are other distinguishing features of the Bunkers Convention, which are designated to guarantee that sufficient amount of compensation is available once the bunkers pollution incident occurs.

As in case of any other international regime, the Bunkers Convention is a result of a compromise reached between the drafters of the Convention. Several of the Convention's prominent provisions that were agreed upon under enormous time pressure during the final Conference, have been criticised for being ineffective in relation to the aim pursued by the Convention. Although uniformity of liability and compensation for bunkers pollution damage was highly preferable, the adoption of the Bunkers Convention raised certain doubts as regards the successfulness of the Convention to provide adequate compensation to the victims of bunker spills. Notwithstanding that certain provisions have received predominantly positive reaction, still some of the central elements of the Convention are claimed to raise as many problems as they solve.

# **Abbreviations**

1969 CLC International Convention on Civil Liability for

Oil Pollution Damage, 1969

1976 LLMC Convention on Limitation of Liability for

Maritime Claims, 1976

1992 CLC International Maritime Organization Protocol of

1992 to amend the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 29

November 1969

1996 LLMC Protocol of 1996 to amend the Convention on

Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims,

1976

Bunkers Convention International Convention on Civil Liability

for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, 2001

CMI Comité Maritime International

CMLA Canadian Maritime Law Association

CRISTAL Contract Regarding an Interim Supplement to

Tanker Liability for Oil Pollution

FPSO Floating Production, Storage and Offloading

Unit

Fund 1971 International Convention on the Establishment of

an International Fund for Compensation for Oil

Pollution Damage, 1971

Fund 1992 International Maritime Organization Protocol of

1992 to amend the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage of 18

December 1971

GT Gross Tonnage

HNS Convention International Convention on Liability and

Compensation for Damage in Connection with

the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious

Substances by Sea, 1996

IMCO Inter-Governmental Maritime Consultative

Organisation

IMO International Maritime Organization

Intervention Convention International Convention Relating to Intervention

on the High Seas in Cases of Oil Pollution

Casualties, 1969

IOPC Funds International Oil Pollution Compensation Funds

ITOPF International Tanker Owners Pollution

Federation

MARPOL 73/78 International Convention for the Prevention of

Pollution from Ships, 1973, as modified by the

Protocol of 1978 relating thereto

**MEPC** IMO's Marine Environment Protection

Committee

MOU Mobile Offshore Unit

Non-Governmental Organization NGO OPA 1990 U.S. Oil Pollution Act 1990 Protection and Indemnity Club P&I Club

**Special Drawing Rights SDR** 

Small Tanker Oil Pollution Indemnification **STOPIA** 

Agreement

Supplementary Fund International Supplementary Fund for

Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage, 2003

Tanker Oil Pollution Indemnification Agreement **TOPIA TOVALOP** 

Tanker Owners Voluntary Agreement

concerning Liability for Oil Pollution

United Kingdom UK **USD United States Dollars** 

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Background

Blame for oil pollution from ships has always been attributable to oil tankers. Experience has, however, shown that oil tankers are far from the only source of marine pollution as bunker oil spills from non-tankers can be equally expensive and devastating. Still, the issue of bunkers pollution remained on the work programme of the International Maritime Organization (the IMO) for more than thirty years before in March 2001 a new Convention titled "International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, 2001" (the Bunkers Convention) was finally adopted. The Bunkers Convention is said to be the last missing link in an otherwise comprehensive liability and compensation system of liability for pollution from ships established by the IMO. The Bunkers Convention has come into force on 21 November 2008 after its ratification by eighteen States and at the present time there are 51 States parties to the Convention holding more than 84 % of the world's tonnage.

# 1.2 Purpose

Undoubtedly, uniformity in the liability standards for bunkers pollution that has been achieved by the adoption of the Bunkers Convention is highly advantageous. Moreover, the broad recognition of the Bunkers Convention notwithstanding the short period it is being in force indicates the absence of major disadvantages or apparent imbalance between different interests, which are affected by the Convention. At the same time, worldwide adherence to the Bunkers Convention does not automatically signify absence of any legal gaps or practical difficulties that may be encountered once the Convention is applicable.

Thus, notwithstanding certain apparent advantages of the uniform liability system for bunkers pollution, this thesis is primarily aimed at critical examination of the Bunkers Convention. The purpose of the thesis is to provide an overview of the most distinguishing provisions of the Bunkers Convention as well as scrutinise the Convention from several different perspectives. During the preparatory work on the Bunkers Convention the avoidance of overlapping application with other international regimes was considered to be of a significant importance. Therefore, one of the issues aimed to be evaluated in this thesis is compatibility of the Bunkers Convention with other international instruments, which may be applicable in case of bunkers pollution damage. Since the goal of the Bunkers Convention, according to its preamble, is to provide an adequate compensation to the victims of bunkers pollution, the attempt will be made to investigate the efficacy of the Convention in the quest for adequate

compensation. In addition, this thesis is intended to provide an analysis of the adequacy of the Bunkers Convention in relation to the aim it strives to achieve.

#### 1.3 Method and material

The thesis is constructed as a combined descriptive and analytical study of the Bunkers Convention. In certain parts of the thesis, the comparative method has been used as well. The second chapter of the thesis is built upon facts without any intention to conduct a legal analysis of either of its subchapters. Thus, in the entire background section, which is purely informational, the descriptive method is predominantly used. Descriptive method has been used in chapter three as well, though in combination with the analysis of most prominent provisions. As several articles of the Bunkers Conventions are modelled on corresponding provisions of the 1992 CLC<sup>1</sup>, the comparison of adequacy and impact of chosen construction in both cases are presented where deemed necessary and relevant. Therefore, in this chapter a combination of descriptive, comparison and analysis methods is used. As fourth chapter is dedicated to discussion of selected issues under the Bunkers Convention, the analysis method dominates throughout the chapter. Some comparison with the 1992 CLC is present in this chapter as well. Apart from the continuous remarks throughout the thesis, the concluding chapter reiterates the most essential points of this thesis combined with the conclusions derived from the entire presentation. Footnotes are used for presentation of the sources of references, but as well for the purpose of distinguishing the views of the author from the views of the scholars whose works have been used during the writing process.

The availability of the materials on the Bunkers Convention is quite limited. The scarcity of doctrine may be partly attributable to the fact that the Convention has been in force comparatively short period and yet there has not been an opportunity to analyse its efficacy in practice. The lack of the materials on the subject may also be explained by referring to the statement of the International Group of P&I Clubs according to which the bunkers pollution has so far been successfully dealt on the national level<sup>2</sup> and, therefore, the issue has not involved so much public attention.

The websites of international organisations and P&I Clubs have provided much of the information as regards bunkers pollution issue generally as well as the Bunkers Convention itself. The preparatory works on the Bunkers Convention, which are comprised mainly of the IMO documents, have served as a vital source of information as they reveal the rationale behind some less balanced provisions of the Convention. Apart from some well-

<sup>2</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> International Maritime Organization Protocol of 1992 to amend the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 29 November 1969.

known cases of oil pollution mentioned in chapter two, there are no bunkers pollution incidents that have been exposed to public attention to the same extent. Thus, due to the lack of case-law on the subject-matter, the evaluation of the issues attributable to the Bunkers Convention is made purely on a theoretical basis relying on the abovementioned sources.

# 1.4 Disposition and delimitation

Apart from the introductory and conclusive chapters, the thesis is comprised of three substantive parts, each divided into several subchapters for the purpose of convenience. Prior to the analysis of the Bunkers Convention, an overview of the existing liability and compensation system for marine pollution created by the IMO is presented in chapter two. The remaining part of the chapter provides a brief description of the legislative background of the Bunkers Convention. Apart from the protracted process emanating at last to final draft, several reasons that have triggered the adoption of the Convention are presented as well. The third chapter is dedicated to presentation of some distinguishing features of the Bunkers Convention. Where deemed as suitable, articles of the Bunkers Convention are compared with the corresponding provisions of the 1992 CLC. It is necessary to indicate that the analysis mainly focuses on certain provisions that are of paramount importance for the discussion that follows in chapter four. The other issues or articles, that may likewise be regarded as essential under the Bunkers Convention but which are not directly related to the discussions carried on in the thesis, either are mentioned in a brief manner or are not considered in this thesis at all. Chapter four is devoted to discussion of the Bunkers Convention from three different perspectives, namely, compatibility, efficacy and adequacy. Several distinguishing elements of the Convention will thus be scrutinised in the light of mentioned issues. Finally, the conclusive chapter will summarise central issues of the thesis as well as present some closing comments on the entire thesis.

# 1.5 Terminology

For the purpose of preventing any terminological misunderstanding, some terms and abbreviations, which are frequently used in the thesis, are explained below.

In accordance with the Bunkers Convention, the term "shipowner" includes, apart from the registered owner, bareboat charterer, manager and operator of the ship. Therefore, when a shipowner is mentioned in the context of the Bunkers Convention, the reference is actually made to all the persons embraced by its definition; otherwise, a clear reference is made to the

registered owner. Under the LLMCs<sup>3</sup> the same range of persons are encompassed by the definition of a shipowner and, therefore, the clarification above applies even in the context of the LLMCs. As regards the CLCs, the terminology is quite clear, as under these Conventions only a registered shipowner is recognised as the owner of a ship.

As the 1996 LLMC does not alter in any way the nature of the provisions of the 1976 LLMC, which are discussed in this thesis, both Conventions are jointly referred to as the LLMCs. More specific reference will be made to either of the Conventions when such distinction is required by the context. Unless the context requires a clear distinction between the 1992 CLC and the 1969 CLC, the abbreviation CLCs is used for referring to both Conventions jointly.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims, 1976 and Protocol of 1996 to amend the Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims of 19 November 1976.

# 2 The Bunkers Convention – last link in the international liability regime for ship-source pollution

# 2.1 Overview of the international liability and compensation regime for marine pollution

Although nowadays oil pollution is of paramount importance in the maritime world, oil pollution as a problem was not seriously discussed on the international level until the conference in 1954 where preventive measures as regards oil pollution of the sea were considered. However, a sense of urgency for international action has not emerged until the *Torrey* Canyon<sup>4</sup> disaster in 1967, which took the world by surprise illuminating the immense range of damage that oil spill from one ship is able to cause. 5 This catastrophe can be seen as the starting point of the current international liability and compensation system for marine oil pollution as it highlighted the need for a new international mechanism with a focus on two major areas, namely, the need of coastal states to be protected from oil pollution damage and the absence of uniform civil liability rules for such damage.<sup>6</sup> Thus, the devastating impact of the incident provided a considerable stimulus to the development of two International Conventions by the Inter-Governmental Maritime Consultative Organisation (IMCO, now IMO),<sup>7</sup> namely, the public law Intervention Convention<sup>8</sup> and its private law counterpart the Civil Liability Convention<sup>9</sup>.

The aim of the 1969 CLC was to standardise the international law and procedures on oil pollution liability and compensation as well as to ensure that such compensation was available for oil pollution victims. The 1969

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The *Torrey Canyon*, a Liberian-registered tanker, ran aground on the Seven Stones Reef while entering the English Channel on 18 March 1967 with resultant spilling of the entire cargo of approximately 119,000 tonnes of Kuwait crude oil. The escaped oil caused extensive damage in England and also affected France. More detailed information is available at: <a href="http://www.itopf.com/information-services/data-and-statistics/case-histories/CP2.html#TORREY">http://www.itopf.com/information-services/data-and-statistics/case-histories/CP2.html#TORREY</a> (visited 11 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Hill, Christopher, *Maritime Law*, 6th ed., 2003, p. 424.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Özçayir, Oya, Liability for oil pollution and collisions, London: LLP, 1998, p. 211.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The IMCO was subsequently changed to the IMO (the International Maritime Organisation) in 1982.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The International Convention Relating to Intervention on the High Seas in Cases of Oil Pollution, 1969.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1969. The Convention came into force in 1975.

CLC was further backed-up by the 1971 Fund Convention<sup>10</sup>, which was introduced to provide substantial supplementary compensation where full or adequate compensation was not possible under the CLC system. As it can be observed, at that stage, the tanker ships carrying huge quantities of oil were seen as major pollutants and all the resources were concentrated on the development of the sufficient and adequate compensation regime for oil spills from tankers. Thus, the 1969 CLC and the 1971 Fund Convention created an international two-tier compensation regime through which compensation was made available to those affected by oil spills from tankers. 11 The first tier was paid by the shipowner or his insurer and, in case the compensation payable was insufficient to compensate in full for damage suffered by victims, the second tier compensation was provided under the 1971 Fund Convention by the International Oil Pollution Compensation Fund 1971. <sup>12</sup>Pending the widespread ratification of the international conventions two voluntary agreements of TOVALOP (Tanker Owners Voluntary Agreement concerning Liability for Oil Pollution) and CRISTAL (Contract Regarding an Interim Supplement to Tanker Liability for Oil Pollution) were devised by the tanker and oil industries in 1969 and 1971 respectively as interim arrangements.<sup>13</sup>

After several substantial pollution incidents it was agreed that the limits of compensation provided by the 1969 CLC and the 1971 Fund Convention were inadequate and unsuitable in terms of coverage to satisfy all reasonable claims and potentially high costs in case of a serious oil spill disaster. Therefore, both conventions were amended in 1992 by the adoption of two Protocols, which significantly increased the limits of compensation and enhanced scope of application of the Conventions. These revised Conventions come into force in 1996 and are commonly referred to as the 1992 Civil Liability Convention<sup>14</sup> (or the 1992 CLC) and the 1992 Fund Convention<sup>15</sup> (or the 1992 Fund). The aim of the 1992 Conventions to replace the earlier Conventions is partly achieved by now. While the 1971 Fund Convention was denounced in 2002, the 1969 CLC is still in force, as 38 States remain parties thereto. <sup>16</sup>The limitation amounts stated in the 1992

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The 1971 International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage. This Convention came into force in 1978 but was subsequently denounced on 24 May 2002.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> ITOPF Spill Compensation Regime Overview, available at: <a href="http://www.itopf.com/spill-compensation/index.html">http://www.itopf.com/spill-compensation/index.html</a> (visited 11 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, 15 JIML, 2009, p. 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The Agreements were ultimately terminated in 1997, after having been in force for 28 and 26 years respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> International Maritime Organization Protocol of 1992 to amend the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 29 November 1969.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> International Maritime Organization Protocol of 1992 to amend the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage of 18 December 1971.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> As at 30 April 2010 these 38 States parties represent only 2.80% of world tonnage. Updated Status of the Convention is available at: http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic\_id=247 (visited 11 May 2010).

CLC were subsequently increased by the adoption of the Resolution in October 2000. 17

As the totality of claims, resulting from the *Prestige* catastrophe in 2002 exceeded the combined capacity of the CLC and the Fund to pay out claims in full, this pollution incident undoubtedly triggered the creation of an additional compensation layer. 18 Thus, a third tier of compensation in the form of the International Supplementary Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage, 2003 (Supplementary Fund) was established in 3 March 2005 by means of a Protocol adopted in 2003. <sup>19</sup> Similar to the levies made under the 1992 Fund Convention, the funds under the third tier are generated from contributions made by receivers of oil in participating states. It is hoped that this extra layer will at last ensure the availability of compensation in full for oil pollution claims and render the pro-rata system which had to be introduced and accepted as most fair solution due to the overall insufficiency of funds available under the existed two-tier compensation regime.<sup>20</sup> In addition, in 2006 two voluntary compensation agreements<sup>21</sup> were established for the purpose of maintaining a balance between the financial burdens shared by the ship-owners and cargo-owners.

As regards marine pollution by substances other than oil, the Convention on Liability and Compensation for Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea (HNS Convention) was adopted in 1996. The HNS Convention is modelled on the mechanism established by the CLCs and Fund Conventions, thus providing a two-tier compensation system. The HNS Convention has not yet become internationally effective but is expected to enter into force in the near future.

All abovementioned liability and compensation systems (except HNS Convention) are primarily concerned with cargo oil spills from tankers and only in some limited situations fuel oil spills are covered as well. The 1969 CLC is applicable only to bunker spills from a laden tanker while the 1992 CLC has somewhat enlarged scope of application and applies to bunker oil spills from unladen tankers as well, though under certain circumstances. Still, neither the 1969 CLC nor the 1992 CLC applies to bunker spills from

<sup>.</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The Resolution was adopted by the Legal Committee of the IMO on 18 October 2000 and entered into force on 1 November 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Hill, Christopher, p. 441.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, *The International Oil Pollution Compensation Funds and the International Regime of Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage*, in: Basedow, Jürgen & Magnus, Ulrich (eds.), Pollution of the Sea – Prevention and Compensation, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2007, p. 137. To date 26 States are parties to the Protocol. Updated Status of the Protocol is available at:

http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic\_id=247 (visited 11 May 2010). Hill, Christopher, p. 441.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> These arrangements, known as STOPIA (the Small Tanker Oil Pollution Indemnification Agreement) and TOPIA (the Tanker Oil Pollution Indemnification Agreement), were introduced on behalf of the majority of shipowners insured by the International Group of P&I Clubs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Compare the 1969 Civil Liability Convention, Article 1.1 and the 1992 Civil Liability Convention, Article 2.1.

vessels other than oil tankers. As bunker spill pollution remained almost unregulated for quite a long time, it caused some concern to costal states as the potential of pollution from bunkers increased significantly with the increased amounts of bunker oil carried onboard of larger non-tankers. <sup>23</sup> It took, however, a while before the issue was rendered priority on the IMO's work programme and several years more of heated negotiations before the Bunkers Convention was finally adopted in 2001.

The Bunkers Convention well may be the last missing link in an otherwise comprehensive and firmly established IMO liability and compensation package for vessel-source pollution. As regards marine pollution in general, there is one significant gap, which is yet not covered by any global international regime, namely civil liability for pollution damage from offshore operations. The absence of such a regime was, therefore, substituted by adoption of international agreements between the affected States in the regions where offshore oil and gas is explored.<sup>24</sup> Although such regional agreements may be regarded as valuable international instruments, there are different viewpoints as to their effectiveness. On the one hand, in most of the cases these agreements contain in general terms expressed concern by the States on the issue and readiness to cooperate and take appropriate measures but they present no definitiveness on the specific matters of liability and compensation. In addition, such agreements only have importance for the region in question and, being independent international agreements, lack uniformity, not to mention the lack of worldwide application.<sup>25</sup> On the other hand, owing to the fact that offshore operations take place in coastal waters or on the continental shelf, it appears to be self-evident that pollution damage from such operations should be regulated by the national laws of the State in question or any regional agreement it decides to conclude. Therefore, it is argued that regional agreements present much better means to deal with the issue of pollution from offshore operations as such agreements take into account the different conditions and peculiarities of any particular area, which a worldwide regime could impossibly do.<sup>26</sup>

Thus, due to the absence of common liability and compensation standards in this field, and in the light of rapid growth since the early 1990s in the number and variety of offshore units, the questions have increasingly arisen as regards legal position in the case of oil pollution from offshore units and whether such offshore craft may be governed by international instruments applicable to ships. <sup>27</sup> While the issue of applicability of the Bunkers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Gold, Edgar, Chircop, Aldo E. & Kindred, Hugh, M., *Canadian Maritime Law*, Toronto: Irwin Law, 2003, p. 699.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Agyebeng, Kissi, *Disappearing Acts – Toward a Global Civil Liability Regime for Pollution Damage Resulting from Offshore Oil and Gas Exploration*, Cornell Law School LL.M. Papers Series, Paper 11, Cornell Law School, 2006.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Agyebeng, Kissi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Gavouneli, Maria, *Pollution from Offshore Installations*, London: Graham & Trotman, 1995, p. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., *Shipping and the Environment: Law and Practice*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., London: Informa, 2009, p. 243.

Convention to the offshore craft will be mentioned in the subsequent chapters, the considerations as to applicability of other international regimes for ship-source pollution to such craft fall beyond the scope of the thesis. Emphasizing the need for universal regime as regards offshore craft, the Canadian Maritime Law Association (CMLA) presented a draft of Convention<sup>28</sup> on the subject in 2001, which is still being examined by the Comité Maritime International (CMI). It is hoped that this new convention will be adopted in the near future. Though, the difficulties faced with during the drafting of the Bunkers Convention, presented in the next chapter, may indicate that preparatory work leading to a Convention can take a long time before a consensus is reached between the interested parties.

# 2.2 Legislative background of the **Bunkers Convention**

# 2.2.1 Preparatory work on the Bunkers Convention

Although the Bunkers Convention is a relatively new instrument in the international liability and compensation regime for ship-source pollution, the background work on the Convention on the international level can be traced back to the IMO Diplomatic Conference in Brussels in 1969 where the issue of bunker spill pollution was initially raised.<sup>29</sup> The purpose and the prior concern of the Conference, which was held in the wake of the Torrey Canyon disaster, was to create an international liability and compensation regime for large tankers' cargo spills. Although the conference was not devoted to the bunker spills problem, it was considered whether the future liability convention (the 1969 CLC) should embrace bunker spills or not. After some heated discussions the view prevailed that the focus should be kept on persistent oil carried as cargo but the bunker spills from laden tankers should be covered as well. 30 As the 1969 CLC was expected to be complemented by the Fund Convention, which would be generated by the oil industry, it was thought realistic and fair to expect cargo interests to contribute to compensation for damage caused by the escape of cargo oil or bunker oil from laden tankers. 31 Conversely, it was felt that including bunker spills from all types of vessels in the future Convention would unnecessary complicate the whole liability and compensation regime primarily designated to deal with cargo oil spills.<sup>32</sup> Therefore, the liability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> The Draft Convention on Offshore Units, Artificial Islands and Related Structures Used in the Exploration and Exploitation of Petroleum and Seabed Mineral Resources.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Wu, Chao, Liability and Compensation for Bunker Pollution, 33 J. Mar. L. & Com., 2002, p. 554.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CMI Documentation, 1968-III.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Griggs, Patrick, International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, 2001, British Maritime Law Association, 2001, available at: http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm (visited 11 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 554. For more details on discussion, see CMI Documentation, 1968-III.

for bunker oil spills in relation to non-tankers as well as such spills from unladen tankers was clearly excluded from the scope of application of the 1969 CLC.

During the discussions leading to the adoption of the CLC Protocol 1992 the issue of bunker spill pollution was brought to the attention again as the legal regime for handling such pollution was considered necessary. The CLC mechanism was amended to cover bunkers spill from unladen tankers as well, given certain circumstances, <sup>33</sup> but otherwise it was considered unrealistic to include bunkers pollution from all types of vessels under the 1992 CLC without significant implications. The question of bunker oil spills was raised again in the beginning of the 1990s when a number of states tried to add provisions regulating bunker spills pollution to the HNS Convention <sup>34</sup> during its drafting. The efforts were, however, unsuccessful.

The first concrete suggestion to create an independent bunker pollution instrument was made in 1994 when Australia tabled such proposal at the 36<sup>th</sup> session of the IMO's Marine Environment Protection Committee (MEPC).<sup>35</sup> It was unanimously agreed that there was a high time for such a compensation regime to be created and, therefore, the issue was submitted to the IMO's Legal Committee for further consideration. The submission by Australia was tabled again at the Legal Committee's 73<sup>rd</sup> session, this time containing four concrete alternatives to regulate the bunkers pollution issue. 36 Two most favourable alternatives were either to adopt a protocol to the CLC or to establish a stand-alone treaty. 37 The advantages and disadvantages of both alternatives were compared and the preference was given to the latter one, namely to create a free-standing compensation regime, which would follow the precedents set by the existing IMO Conventions as far as practicable. Shortly after that followed a joint submission by several states with the first draft of the future regime on liability for bunkers pollution damage annexed thereto. <sup>38</sup> The submission requested the Committee to make rapid development of the proposed regime a priority item on the Committee's agenda for the 1996-97 biennium. Finally, after the adoption of the HNS Convention in May 1996, the Committee decided that the subject of compensation for pollution from ship's bunkers should be given the highest priority on the work programme.<sup>39</sup> Indeed, there were several convincing reasons that called for a reform in the field.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The 1992 CLC, Art. 1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> International Convention on Liability and Compensation for Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea, 1996 (the HNS Convention). The HNS Convention has not entered into force yet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> LEG 73/12 and MEPC 36/21/6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> LEG 73/12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> LEG 73/12 and LEG 77/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> LEG 73/12/1. The proposal was submitted by the Netherlands, Norway, the Republic of Ireland, Sweden and the United Kingdom.
<sup>39</sup> LEG 74/4.

# 2.2.2 Factors calling for reform

#### 2.2.2.1 The statistics

Ever since the *Torrey Canyon* disaster, the problem of oil pollution from tankers has been a major headache throughout the world. Although most public attention has always been focused on tanker accidents, these in fact are responsible for less than 10 % of marine pollution, which is a comparatively small proportion of total oil pollution to be given the highest priority since *Torrey Canyon* incident. In a joint submission to the 75<sup>th</sup> session of the Legal Committee the reference was made to the UK P&I Club's Analysis of Major Claims 1993 according to which "half of the total number of pollution claims arose from incidents involving ships not carrying oil cargo". Although few statistics were available, Australian data showed that between 1975 and 1995 oil spills from non-tankers have accounted for over 83 % of all oil spills in Australian waters accounting for 78 % of the response costs incurred during the same period under Australia's national plan.

Such a high level of bunker spills could be explained by the fact that such spills are common source of oil pollution from vessels as they can occur not only from tankers but from the most of the world's fleet as well. Although experience shows that the most serious and intensive oil spills are caused by such spills from tankers and thus, the probability of bunker are much more numerous than tankers, and thus, the probability of bunker spills is much higher. In addition, some larger bulk carriers and container ships can have bunker capacity of 10,000 tonnes or more oil as fuel, which is much larger quantity than many of the world's tankers can take as cargo. The point was also made that, while regulation 13G of Annex I of MARPOL 73/78 will result in the phasing out of many older tankers, with consequent reduction of the risk of pollution from tankers' bunkers, there were no similar procedure suggested for non-tankers. It was also estimated that at any given time there is around 14 million tonnes of fuel oil carried by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Özçayir, Oya, p. 159f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> UK P&I Club, Analysis of Major Claims 1993, available at: http://www.ukpandi.com/ukpandi/resource.nsf/Files/AMC1993/\$FILE/AMC1993.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> LEG 74/2 and LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> De la Rue, Colin, *Bunker spill risk*, 22(10) Maritime Risk International, Dec 2008/Jan 2009, p.18; LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> The Torrey Canyon (the UK, 1967), the Amoco Cadiz(France, 1978), the Haven (Italy, 1991), the Sea Empress (the UK, 1996), the Erika (France, 1999), the Prestige (Spain, 2002), the Hebei Spirit (Republic of Korea, 2007) are examples of some high-profile incidents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> De la Rue, Colin, *Bunker spill risk*, p.18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 555; De la Rue, Colin, Bunker spill risk, p.18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as modified by the Protocol of 1978 relating thereto.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> For details, see submission of Australia at the 36<sup>th</sup> session of MEPC (MEPC 36/21/6).

non-tankers while approximately 130 million tonnes of oil are carried as cargo. 49 Hence, carrying significant quantities of bunker oil, non-tankers represent considerable oil contamination risk and cannot be negligible.<sup>50</sup>

#### 2.2.2.2 Technical factors

Another factor urging for a free-standing bunkers instrument was the fact that the physical properties of bunker oil differ significantly from the crude oil carried as cargo. Ships' bunkers normally consist of heavy fuel oils, which are among the most difficult to combat. The high viscosity of such oil leads to its prolonged persistence in marine environment and usually results in extensive contamination of the affected area.<sup>51</sup> Relatively small spill of highly persistent bunkers can cause a comparatively widespread damage and give rise to claims for compensation that are disproportionate to the amount of oil spilled. 52 The contamination by such oil often causes significant loss of amenity and damage to fisheries and mariculture facilities. As bunker oil can easily move around it constitutes a great threat to seabirds and other organisms, but when in some circumstances heavy fuel oils sink, the problems of contamination are, thereby, transferred to the seabed. 53

The cleaning up of fuel oil is proven to be more difficult, challenging and costly process in comparison with cargo oil spills. 54 Not only fuel oils tend to spread a great distance from the original spill location and accordingly require clean-up operations over a large area; the fact that such oils are resistant to many clean-up techniques, particularly at sea, additionally exacerbate the situation.<sup>55</sup> For example, in 1997 the spill of bunker oil from the wood ship carrier *Kure* resulted in clean-up claims amounting to 47 million USD in total.<sup>56</sup> Thus, the significance of the bunker spills issue remarked on the importance of a separate liability convention.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> LEG 75/5/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Ansell, D.V., et al. (ITOPF), A Review of the Problems Posed by Spill of Heavy Fuel Oil, Paper presented at: 2001 International Oil Spill Conference, March 26-29 2001, Tampa, Florida, available at: http://www.itopf.com/ assets/documents/iosc2001.pdf (visited 17 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Ansell, D.V., et al. (ITOPF), available at:

http://www.itopf.com/ assets/documents/iosc2001.pdf (visited 17 May 2010).

LEG 74/4/2, particularly annexed ITOPF submission - Technical aspects of bunker oil spillages, particularly from non-tankers.

De la Rue, Colin, Bunker spill risk, p.18.

<sup>55</sup> LEG 74/4/2, particularly annexed ITOPF submission - Technical aspects of bunker oil spillages, particularly from non-tankers. See also Ansell, D.V., et al. (ITOPF), available at: http://www.itopf.com/ assets/documents/iosc2001.pdf (visited 17 May 2010).

More recent bunker oil spill incidents from non-tankers are the Cosco Busan (US, 2007), the Fedra (Gibraltar, 2008), the Sierra Nevada (Spain, 2007), the Don Pedro (Spain, 2007) and the Morning Sun (Taiwan, 2008). Although, in all these incidents the escaped bunker oil did not exceed 200 tonnes, the considerable pollution damage was caused which necessitated costly clean-up operations. In March 2009 the container ship Pacific Adventure lost some 270 tonnes of bunkers from its punctured fuel tank off the coast of Australia. Notwithstanding such a small quantity of the bunker oil spilled (if compared with large cargo oil spills involving thousands of tonnes of oil), 50 kilometres of coastline were polluted and the Government of Queensland declared the affected coast a disaster zone.

#### 2.2.2.3 No uniform liability regime

The main rationale for the development of another pollution Convention was probably the absence of a uniform international legislation covering pollution damage from vessels other than tankers. Although the CLCs partly covered bunker spills from tankers, such spills from the rest of the world's fleet were falling outside the scope of any existent international compensation regime for oil pollution. Due to the absence of the uniform compensation and liability provisions on bunkers pollution, States had to deal with the problem on the national level. Some States, such as the UK, have extended the CLC strict liability regime to cover bunker spills as well, hence, "recommending" the shipowners to maintain financial security to be able to cover their liabilities<sup>57</sup>; other States have decided to pass domestic law dealing with such types of pollution. For example, the US adopted the Oil Pollution Act (OPA 1990) which applies to oil damage from all types of vessels. Some other, including Australia and Canada, have implemented requirements for all vessels to have on board a document providing evidence that adequate insurance is in place when entering a port. Still, many jurisdictions did not have national legislation dealing with bunker spill pollution at all. However, even if the relevant domestic law existed in some jurisdiction, it has not been practicable for governments to impose their own domestic laws to ensure that financial security is available for payment of claims. 58

There were some additional disadvantages of having bunker spill issue regulated by domestic law instead of adopting a free-standing international regime. For example, vessels in transit were more likely to comply with uniform obligations imposed on international level than meet the requirements of national law of each coastal State.<sup>59</sup> Without uniform provisions on the matter, the involved parties would be uncertain as regards the extent of their rights and liabilities, and such obvious problems as identifying the person liable and deciding the right jurisdiction would be unavoidable. Moreover, the different domestic laws would provide shipowners with opportunity to choose the less demanding jurisdiction.<sup>60</sup> As the *Torrey Canyon* incident has shown, the most unprotected would be pollution victims, as those would face significant difficulties in finding the person liable and obtaining the compensation.

Although it is believed that there is only a minor risk of claims remaining unpaid after a bunker spill, there have been a couple of cases which proved

Thus, all above mentioned cases indicate the disproportionate damage that can be caused by a relatively small quantity of bunker oil. See also Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 21f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> The Merchant shipping act 1995, section 154. Strict liability for damage caused by bunker spills was also imposed under national law of the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, etc.; LEG 73/12, LEG 73/12/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> LEG 73/12 and LEG 73/12/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> LEG 73/12/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2007, p. 15.

that as long as there is no uniform regulation on the matter, coastal States may have some difficulties in recovering their response costs. A good example of this point is the bunker spill incident of the *Pionersk*, a fish-factory ship registered in Russia, which grounded off the coast of the UK in October 1994. Notwithstanding that the UK had already introduced the strict liability for bunker spills in its domestic legislation, the government of the UK did not succeed in recovering the clean-up costs incurred, simply because there were no adequate liability cover for the vessel. Probably, the *Pionersk*, being persuasive evidence that the solution on the national level was not an effective way out of the international problem, played its part in stimulating work on new international regime on liability and compensation for bunkers pollution. <sup>61</sup>

# 2.2.3 Adoption of the Bunkers Convention

With abovementioned factors in mind it was clear that the subject was worth of greater attention and that an international mechanism governing the matter was long overdue. Thus, after being on the IMO's work programme for more than thirty years, the issue of bunker spills was finally regulated when the International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage was adopted on 23 March 2001 at a Diplomatic Conference convened under the auspices of the IMO. In addition, the same conference adopted three resolutions connected to the Bunkers Convention. The Convention entered into force on 21 November 2008 after attaining the required ratifications 12 month earlier, and at the time present 51 States representing more than 84% of tonnage are parties to the Convention.

Available IMO documentation has shown that while the main scope of the Convention was decided under late stage of its drafting, many vital aspects were left unresolved until the final Conference. <sup>64</sup> In its opening statement to the Conference, the Secretary-General of the IMO proclaimed that the failure to agree upon Bunkers Convention would "not only rebound to the discredit of the Legal Committee and Organisation but would also disappoint States and lead to the adoption of national legislation not based

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> De la Rue, Colin M., *Current Legal Issues Relating to Pollution Claims*, Lloyd's List Events, Oil Pollution 2002, London, 2002, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> These resolutions are: 1) Resolution on the limitation of liability; 2) Resolution on the promotion of technical cooperation; 3) Resolution on protection for persons taking measures to prevent or minimise the effects of oil pollution. A brief overview of the resolutions is available at:

http://www.imo.org/Conventions/contents.asp?topic\_id=256&doc\_id=666 (visited 18 May 2010).

<sup>63</sup> The IMO data represents the status of the Conventions as at 30<sup>th</sup> of April 2010, available at: <a href="http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic\_id=247">http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic\_id=247</a> (visited 12 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., *The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?*, Lloyd's Mar. & Com. L.Q., 2005, p. 99.

on an integrated international regime". <sup>65</sup> It is self-evident that after such a statement the delegates were put under strong time pressure to reach agreement on the Bunkers Convention. As a result, several improvements and clarifications to the Convention, which were presented at the late stages of the drafting process, were disregarded due to the lack of time. <sup>66</sup>

The rapid growth of the number of States parties with dominant fleets in such a short time undoubtedly indicates that the Bunkers Convention is largely a successful international instrument. At the same time, certain elements of the Convention have been strongly criticised for being not effective in order to provide the sufficient compensation to the bunkers pollution victims. Therefore, in the following chapters the provisions of the Bunkers Convention, and particularly its weaknesses, will be presented.

-

<sup>65</sup> LEG/CONF.12/RD/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., *The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?*, 99.

# 3 Main features of the Bunkers Convention

# 3.1 The purpose of the Convention

The purpose of the Bunkers Convention, according to its Preamble, is to ensure that adequate and effective compensation is promptly available to persons who suffer damage caused by spills of bunker oil. The corner-stones of the Convention, namely, strict liability imposed on the ship's owner, limitation of liability and system of compulsory insurance, follow a pattern which in many respects is analogous to that of the CLCs. Still, notwithstanding its similarities with the CLCs and the fact that many provisions are modelled on familiar counterparts in the 1992 CLC, there are a number of notable differences between these two conventions. <sup>67</sup> Thus, in addition to summarising the key features of the Bunkers Convention, the following section will seek to identify and explain those differences as well as spot the shortcomings if there are any.

#### 3.2 Definitions

# 3.2.1 Ship

The definition of "ship" in the Bunkers Convention, which is identical with the corresponding provision of the HNS Convention, embraces "any seagoing vessel and seaborne craft, of any type whatsoever". <sup>68</sup> Such a broad definition will cover bunker spills not only from all types of traditional ships but also from a large number of floating objects in the sea. <sup>69</sup> Notwithstanding such a broad definition, the Bunkers Convention does not apply to oil tankers or oil pollution damage resulting from escape of bunker oil from tankers as such in most cases are covered by the CLCs.

The wording "seaborne craft" indicates the intention of the drafters to provide a wide application that goes beyond the scope of "seagoing vessel". Although the term "seaborne craft" is not further defined in the Convention, it appears that the wording encompasses such offshore units as MOUs, FPSOs, FSUs and mobile drilling rigs. <sup>70</sup> Whether the Bunkers Convention is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 259.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.1; HNS Convention, Art. 1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm</a> (visited 11 May 2010).

The Standard P&I Club, Standard Bulletin – Bunkers Certificates for Offshore Units, 24 March 2009, available at: <a href="http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809">http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809</a> SB MAR 09 disclaimer.pdf (visited 12 May 2010); Gard P&I Club, Special Circular - Entry into force of the Bunker Convention, November 2008, available at:

likewise applicable to all other floating offshore structures, such as jack-ups, (semi-)submersibles, drilling ships, is however, less clear as the status of those structures is per se debated in maritime law. <sup>71</sup> The records of the IMO's sessions reflecting the drafting process of the Bunkers Convention do not contain any indication that seaborne craft was closely considered, it rather appears that the wording was directly taken from the corresponding provision in the HNS Convention. Therefore, the fact that offshore units are embraced by the definition may be considered merely as a side effect of strong intention of the drafters not to let any vessel to escape from bunkers pollution liability. Consequently, several loopholes were created as regards offshore craft, particularly on issues connected with insurance and limitation of liability.

# 3.2.2 Shipowner

To reach a consensus on definition of "shipowner" was one of the most challenging tasks during the preparatory work on the Bunkers Convention, as it was well understood that the definition would have a direct impact on such essential issues as liability and insurance, to name a few. In the later stage of negotiations two main options of definition were considered by the delegates, namely, one based on the corresponding provision of the LLMC, the other was identical to the provision in the 1992 CLC. 72 While the LLMC definition made a wide range of persons liable, the 1992 CLC channelled the liability only to registered owner of the ship. As it was widely understood that the limitation regime provided by LLMCs would apply to bunker spills liability, the first alternative was preferred for the purpose of ensuring uniformity between these two regimes.<sup>73</sup>

The "shipowner" is defined in Article 1.3 of the Bunkers Convention as "the owner, including the registered owner, bareboat charterer, manager and operator of the ship". As the Convention applies to seaborne craft as well, accordingly, the registered owner and other above listed persons involved in operation of such craft will equally be held liable in case of bunkers pollution. It is, nevertheless, emphasised in Article 3.5 that such a wide range of persons strictly liable is only designated for the purpose of the Convention by prescribing that no claims for compensation for pollution damage may be made against the "shipowner" outside the Bunkers Convention.

http://www.gard.no/ikbViewer/Content/63022/Special%20Circular%20MOU%20-%20Safeguard.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Agyebeng, Kissi.
<sup>72</sup> The LLMC, Art. 1.2; the 1992 CLC, Art.1.3; See also LEG 80/4/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 26f; LEG 80/4/1.

#### 3.2.3 Bunker oil

The Bunkers Convention covers only bunker oil, which is defined as "any hydrocarbon mineral oil, including lubricating oil, used or intended to be used for the operation or propulsion of the ship, and any residues of such oil". Accordingly, the proof of intention of use would be required in order to make distinction between fuel and cargo oil. This may not cause any difficulty when bunker oil is stored in the consumption tanks or in the pipelines as necessary evidence seems to be provided. Though, in case when bunker oil is stored in other tanks, it may be easily presumed that its purpose of use is other than operation of the vessel, and thus, it may be difficult to provide an evidence of its real intention of use. It should also be mentioned that while the Bunkers Convention covers spills of persistent bunker oil as well as spills of non-persistent bunker oil (for example medium fuel oil), the application of the 1992 CLC in cases of bunkers pollution from tankers is limited only to persistent oil spills.

# 3.2.4 Pollution damage

The definition of "pollution damage" in the Bunkers Convention accords with the corresponding provision in the 1992 CLC and acknowledges four types of such damage. 77 According to the criteria laid down in Article 1.9(a), the compensation may be sought for property damage, pure economic losses and, to limited extent, some forms of environmental reinstatement. The compensation for impairment of the environment "other than loss of profit from such impairment" will however be limited to costs of reasonable measures of reinstatement actually undertaken or to be undertaken. The proviso in Article 1.9(a) shows that concept of the pollution damage under the Convention is limited to damage of an economic nature that actually can be calculated. The compensation is not admissible for damage calculated merely on the theoretical basis or of a punitive nature, nor can it be awarded for damage of a non-economic character.<sup>78</sup> It means that claims for damage to the marine environment as such would not be acceptable, because such damage cannot be estimated financially (monetarily). Though, claims for the economic consequences resulting from damage to the environment, for example losses suffered by the fisheries and

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., *The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?*, p. 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> The 1992 CLC, Art. 1.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.9; The 1992 CLC, Art. 1.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Admissibility of Claims for Compensation for Environmental Damage Under the 1992 Civil Liability and Fund Conventions, available at: <a href="http://www.itopf.com/">http://www.itopf.com/</a> <a href="http://www.itopf.com/">assets/documents/admissibilityofclaims.pdf</a> (visited 13 May 2010). Although, the information concerns the 1992 CLC, it is likewise relevant for the Bunkers Convention as the proviso in question is identical in both Conventions; see the Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.9(a) and the 1992 CLC, Art. 1.6(a).

tourism industries, are falling inside the scope of the Convention. <sup>79</sup> Hence, damage is recoverable subject to it being quantified by experts.

The fourth type of damage is defined by Article 1.9(b), which means costs of reasonable preventive measures and further loss or damage caused by such measures. The definition of preventive measures can be found in Article 1.7 of the Bunkers Convention where such measures are defined as "any reasonable measures taken by any person after an incident has occurred to prevent or minimize pollution damage". 80 Since an "incident" for the purpose of the Convention means "any occurrence or series of occurrences having the same origin, which causes pollution damage or creates a grave and imminent threat of causing such damage", preventive measures may fall within the concept of pollution damage even if oil was not actually spilt.<sup>81</sup>

# 3.3 The scope of application

The geographical sphere of the Bunkers Convention embraces pollution damage occurred within the territory, including the territorial sea, of a State party and also within the exclusive economic zone or equivalent area of such State, as determined in accordance with international law. 82 This article indicates that the residence, domicile or nationality of the defendant is not relevant; the only criterion that is of importance is territorial. Accordingly, the place of damage is determining as regards the applicability of the Convention to the particular accident, while the place where the oil actually escaped is of little concern. 83 On practice, it would mean that the Convention might be applicable to incidents involving bunker oil spills on the high seas, provided that pollution damage is sustained within the territorial sea or the exclusive economic zone of a contracting State.<sup>84</sup>

According to Article 2(b) the Convention also applies to preventive measures, wherever taken, to avoid or minimize bunker oil pollution damage. 85 The wording of this provision means that the costs incurred in

<sup>80</sup> Preventive measures should be distinguished from salvage, as the purpose of the latter is to salve vessel or cargo and the costs incurred in the salvage operation will be paid by the hull insurer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, *Bunkers Convention in Force*, p. 25.

<sup>81</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.8; Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 24.

The Bunkers Convention, Art. 2(a). A State Party which has not established an exclusive economic zone may, for the purpose of the application of the Bunkers Convention, determine an area beyond its territorial sea not extending 200 nautical miles from the baselines from which the breadth of its territorial sea is measured. See Art. 2(a)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 23f.

84 Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,

p. 24.

The Bunkers Convention, Art. 2(b).

undertaking preventive measures are not subject to geographical limits mentioned above, and therefore, will be covered by the Convention independently of the geographical area in which they are undertaken. <sup>86</sup> The Bunkers Convention covers liability and compensation for pollution damage caused by oil spills, when carried as fuel in non-tanker vessels. For the purpose of preserving the balance and avoiding an overlap with the CLCs, tanker vessels are clearly excluded from the application of the Bunkers Convention by Article 4.1 irrespectively of whether compensation is obtainable under the 1992 CLC or not. On the one hand, by express provision that the Bunkers Convention is not applicable to such pollution damage as defined in the 1992 CLC, the drafters definitely succeeded in their aim to avoid an overlap of these two Conventions. On the other hand, as a by-effect of such a general exclusion, loophole was created with a result that some specific situation are not covered by either of two Conventions.

It may also be briefly mentioned that the Bunkers Convention does not apply to warships, naval auxiliary or other ships owned or operated by a State and used on Government non-commercial service. Still, the State party may decide to apply the Convention to such ships as well.<sup>87</sup>

# 3.4 Scope of liability

# 3.4.1 Wide range of liable persons

As was mentioned above, Article 1.3 of the Bunkers Convention places liability on multiple parties within the definition of "shipowner" which embraces thereto the owner, including the registered owner, bareboat charterer, manager and operator of the ship. Where more than one person is liable in the meaning of the Convention, their liability is joint and several. Eikewise, when an incident involves two or more ships and pollution damage results therefrom, the shipowners of all the ships concerned shall be jointly and severally liable for all the damage, provided the damage may not be reasonably separable. The "joint and several liability rule" entitles the victims of the bunkers pollution to claim compensation from anyone of the broad range of defendants or from any combination of them.

On the issue of channelling of liability, the Bunkers Convention differs notably from the CLCs as well as the HNS Convention, under which the liability is channelled solely to the registered owner of the ship in question. The issue of the channelling of liability involved lengthy debates throughout the preparations. Apart from the adopted regime and the CLC model, a

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 4.2 and 4.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.3 and 3.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 136.

compromise alternative was presented by the International Group of P&I Clubs, which suggested creation of a two-steps compensation regime. According to the proposition, the liability would be channelled to the registered owner in the first place, with the effect of prompt compensation either from him or from his insurer. 91 In the vast majority of cases, such compensation would be sufficient to cover all the properly documented claims for pollution damage. In addition, the absence of ambiguity connected to several liable parties would accelerate the litigation process and, accordingly, payment of claims. However, in case the registered owner and his insurer fail to provide the payment, the other parties falling within the definition of shipowner would be obligated to jointly and severally assume the liability and respond to the compensation claims. 92 Thus, the possibility to hold the other parties liable would constitute a sort of supplementary tier of compensation, which would be effectuated only when the inability of the registered owner to meet the responsibility has been established.

Unfortunately, the suggestion was not further investigated due to the time constraints and in the end, the U.S. Oil Pollution Act 1990 (OPA 90) approach on the matter was chosen as a model for the Bunkers Convention. 93 It was emphasized that the system practiced by the United States "had proved to be workable, practical and simple while consistent with traditional legal liabilities and duties". 94 Probably, the linkage of the limitation of liability under the Bunkers Convention to the LLMC may be another cause of the enlarged definition of the "shipowner" as those same persons enjoy the limitation rights under that Convention. 95

During the preparatory work, it was suggested that liability should attach not only to registered shipowner but also to the persons who are in one way or another responsible for day-to-day operation of the vessel, as damage caused by bunkers is more likely to be linked to operation of the ship. 96 It was therefore considered to be more appropriate if liability was attached to the responsible party rather than was attributed to the registered owner, as the latter not necessarily was personally involved in operation of the ship in question. 97 Exemption of operators and charterers from liability would serve as a disincentive to high standards onboard ships and due care in their operations. 98 In case oil spill occurred, these potentially liable persons would have been more motivated to minimise damage as well as their own

<sup>91</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

24

<sup>92</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

<sup>93</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, The International Liability and Compensation Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships - International Solutions for a Global Problem, 32(1) Tul. Mar. L. J., 2007-2008, p.20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> LEG 77/11.

<sup>95</sup> Hill, Christopher, p. 440.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> LEG 74/4/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 35; LEG 74/4/4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 558.

probable liability by taking appropriate measures in response to oil spill pollution. <sup>99</sup>

The reason for holding the bareboat charterer liable on par with the shipowner is attributable to the fact that in practice, the bareboat charterer steps into the shoes of the shipowner and assumes control over the management and operation of the vessel. <sup>100</sup> The operator of the ship is directly connected with the ship's operation. However, the shipowner is normally presumed to be the operator of the ship at the same time, and therefore, may be held liable as such, unless he succeeds in proving that this position is held by someone else. <sup>101</sup> Thus, the meaning of "operator" will normally depend on the circumstances in each case and be decided on a case-by-case basis. <sup>102</sup>

The ship manager is considered to be the agent of the shipowner and is responsible for the management of the ship. <sup>103</sup> The wording "ship manager" may however be wrongly understood as referring to an individual employed as a manager by the shipowner. <sup>104</sup> In practice, though, "ship manager" is usually either an associated company to the single ship-owning company to which all the operational management of the ship is delegated, or a separate professional ship management company, which works for several owners. <sup>105</sup> Therefore, due to the liability being joint and several, each of the abovementioned defendants runs the risk of being held liable for bunkers pollution damage, which may be entirely attributable to the negligent navigation of the master employed by the shipowner. <sup>106</sup>

Although the persons defined as a shipowner may be held jointly and severally liable, Article 3.6 prescribes that the provisions of the Bunkers Convention do not preclude any right of recourse that such persons may enjoy independently of the Convention. Accordingly, the shipowner who alone had to compensate for the pollution damage may then seek recourse from the other persons who may have contributed to the damage. Still, the right of recourse would have little or no effect at all where such persons are insolvent or do not have financial means to meet the liability.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 26; LEG 77/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Zhu, Ling, Can the Bunkers Convention Ensure Adequate Compensation for Pollution Victims?, 40 J. Mar. L. & Com., 2009, p. 206.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> Chen, Xia, *Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims: a Study of U.S. Law, Chinese Law, and International Conventions*, The Hague: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Chen, Xia, p. 8.

Willingale, Malcolm, *Ship Management*, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed., London: LLP, 1998, p. 136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, *Marine Pollution Damage in Australia: Implementing the Bunker Oil Convention 2001 and the Supplementary Fund Protocol 2003*, 27(2) U. Queensland L. J., 2008, p.138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p.138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p.138.

# 3.4.2 Strict liability

According to the Bunkers Convention, a shipowner is strictly liable for pollution damage caused by bunker oil that originated from his ship. 107 In the context of the Bunkers Convention, strict liability means that shipowner is liable as soon as his ship spilt bunker oil and caused pollution damage, irrespective of whether there is any fault attributable to the shipowner personally or not. 108 With other words, there is no need for claimants to prove any fault on the part of the shipowner. 109 Yet, the shipowner's strict liability does not preclude his right of recourse outside the scope of the Bunkers Convention. 110

As definition "shipowner" embraces certain group of persons under the Convention, the group will be strictly liable as a whole. In addition, due to the right of direct action prescribed in the Convention, the liability insurer may be held strictly liable for the registered owner's liability as well.<sup>111</sup> Both the concept of strict liability and the grounds for exoneration of liability match the corresponding provisions contained in the 1992 CLC. Unlike the situation with the CLC, the proposal of establishing strict liability per se did not involve any heated discussions during negotiations leading to convention as such solution was favoured by most of delegations. 112 Still, the issue of adequacy of strict liability under the Bunkers Convention was raised by CMI. It was reminded that strict liability under the CLC was considered acceptable only in conjunction with other important features of the system, such as supplementary fund of compensation and clear right of limitation for pollution claims. As neither a supplementary fund would be established under the Bunkers Convention, nor would Convention contain any concrete rules on limitation of liability, there were no justifiable reasons to impose strict liability on the shipowner. 113

# 3.4.3 Exclusions from liability

The liability in accordance with the Bunkers Convention is not an absolute one since the shipowner can be exculpated from liability provided that any of the exceptions under the Convention is applicable in his case. <sup>114</sup> The defences available for the shipowner are on a par with those listed under the CLCs and the HNS Convention.

The Bunkers Convention, Art. 3.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 3.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 213. <sup>109</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 557.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.10.

<sup>112</sup> LEG 78/5/2; Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 3.3 and 3.4.

Thus, to avoid liability the shipowner has to establish that the damage resulted from an act of war or natural phenomenon, according to Article 3.3(a), was caused by an act or omission of a third party with intent to cause damage according to Article 3.3(b) or was caused by the negligence or wrongful act of any government or other authority responsible for maintaining navigational aids according to Article 3.3(c). In addition, where contributory negligence or sabotage by the pollution victims can be shown, the shipowner may be exonerated from liability partly or fully. Nevertheless, the attention should be drawn to the fact that exemptions (b) and (c) would not be applicable if any contributory negligence, even minor, could be shown on the part of any persons falling within the definition of shipowner. 116

# 3.4.4 Limitation of liability

It is a generally accepted principle that strict liability should be subject to limitation in maritime law. Otherwise, strict liability without any limits would be recipe for financial disaster and it would be nearly impossible to insure without a possibility of assessment of the maximum liability in advance. The Bunkers Convention is no exception as regards the recognition of this principle, although it does not contain any express limitation rules but merely refers to other instruments dealing with the issue. According to Article 6 of the Bunkers Convention nothing in the Convention shall affect the right of the shipowner or his insurer to limit liability under any applicable national or international regime, such as the LLMC, 1976, as amended. Accordingly, all concrete aspects of limitation, such as amount of limitation, conditions of establishment of limitation fund and its distribution among the pollution victims are to be found in other international or national instruments that regulate the issue.

The right to limit liability applies to all persons embraced by the definition of the shipowner. In addition, if the insurance is purchased voluntarily by the persons other than registered shipowner, the right to limit liability will be extended to their liability insurers as well. 119

Although the limitation system under the 1996 LLMC is expressly recommended to be used, in situations when neither of the LLMCs is applicable other international or national regimes would be applicable. Thus, the Bunkers Convention does not provide any certain answer as to the level of liability for bunker pollution, as right to limit the liability and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 3.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., *The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?*, p 84.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,
 p. 152.
 <sup>119</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,

Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage.p. 152.

particularly amount of limitation utterly depends on the law of State where pollution occurs. 120

Reasonably enough, in the absence of separate limits of liability under the Bunkers Convention, there is no limitation fund dedicated specifically to bunkers pollution claims. Therefore, claims brought under the Bunkers Convention will have to compete with other claims limitable under applicable regimes. In cases where either of the LLMC is applicable, all the persons embraced by the definition of shipowner will be entitled to limit their liability, and there will be a single limitation amount for their aggregate liabilities. Although the issue was discussed during the negotiations, the absence of a separate limitation fund was not considered to be a potential problem as past spill experiences have encountered only few accidents in which claims for bunker spill damage had to compete for reimbursement with other claims eligible for limitation under the LLMCs. 122

Seeing from the claimants' perspective, a separate limitation fund would probably have been more convenient alternative. On the other hand, considering problem from the shipowners' and insurers' perspective, a separate limitation fund would have imposed an additional administrative burden on them. As a result, in majority of incidents, at least two limitation funds would have to be established when the bunker spill occurs, namely, a fund under the Bunkers Convention and additional fund under the LLMC or some other applicable limitation regime. Moreover, if an incident occurs involving a ship with HNS cargo, a third limitation fund would have to be established under the HNS Convention as well. Although it cannot be denied that one limitation fund for all claims would be a more economical way of settling the claims, still, one should bear in mind a potential risk of shipowner's unlimited liability where neither of the existing limitation regimes is applicable. 123

# 3.5 Compulsory insurance

# 3.5.1 Compulsory insurance requirement

As with the 1992 CLC, one of the key requirements in the Bunkers Convention is a system of compulsory liability insurance. Although strict liability imposed by the Convention extends beyond the registered owner to bareboat charterer, operator and manager of the ship, the registered owner of a ship greater than 1000 GT is the only person obliged to cover his liability by insurance. <sup>124</sup> Instead of liability insurance, the shipowner is permitted to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 561.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 28f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 564.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 565.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.1.

cover his liability by other financial security. 125 Although there are no clear rules as regards the acceptable providers of financial security a bank guarantee is usually deemed to be sufficient.

Establishing a relatively high threshold, 1,000 GT, the Bunkers Convention exempt from the requirement of compulsory insurance most of the ships operating in local area. <sup>126</sup> Another permitted exception from requirement of compulsory insurance is related to ships that operate exclusively within the territorial sea of a State party. It is up to each State party to decide upon the matter and subsequently make a declaration if ships engaged exclusively on "domestic voyages" should be excluded from the requirement. 127 Still, it should be emphasized that, although shipowners of abovementioned categories are not obliged to maintain compulsory insurance, such ships are submitted to liability provisions of the Bunkers Convention.

Although compulsory insurance requirement is only imposed on the ships registered in a State party, the wording of Article 7.12 prescribes a somewhat extended application of the insurance requirement. According to this provision, each State party shall ensure under its national law that insurance or other financial security is in force in respect of any ship greater than 1000 GT, wherever registered, entering or leaving a port in its territory, or arriving at or leaving an offshore facility in its territorial sea. 128 Consequently, ships greater than 1000 GT, whether registered in a State party or not, are obliged to take out insurance in order to be permitted to enter a port of a State party. In contrast, the requirement of compulsory insurance by no means would be applicable to ships registered in a non-State party, and not intended to call a port of a State party. 129

The level of compulsory cover must be equal to the limits of liability prescribed by the applicable national or international limitation regime, but in no case exceeding an amount calculated in accordance with the 1976 LLMC, as amended. Thus, for example, in a State party where no general limitation of liability rules are applicable for the shipowner, the strict liability prescribed in the Bunkers Convention as well as the required compulsory insurance would, apparently, have to be unlimited. [31] One should also bear in mind that the wording of Article 7.1 as regards "applicable national or international limitation regime" implies the regime applicable in the State where pollution damage occurs, and not that applicable in the State of the ship's registry. The insurance certificate attesting financial capability of the shipowner to cover his liability in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 565.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.15 and 2(a)(i).

The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 33f.
The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?, p. 83.

accordance with any applicable regime is, nonetheless, issued from the State of the ship's registry.

It should also be mentioned that the compulsory insurance requirement applies to various offshore units as well, as such fall within the definition of the ship in Article 1.1.

#### 3.5.2 Insurance certificates

In order to confirm that insurance is in place that meets the requirements of the Convention the insurer will normally issue to the shipowner a standard document known as a "Blue Card". The shipowner needs further to submit this document to the appropriate authority in the State of the ship's registry, which in turn will issue a certificate of insurance in accordance with Article 7.2 of the Bunkers Convention. <sup>132</sup> In case the State in question is not a party to the Convention, such certificate may be issued by any other State that is. At the first sight, the possibility of different certificate options may be somewhat confusing due to the variety of limitation systems that may be applicable. One should, however, remember that the certificate serves only as a proof that the insurance meets the requirements of the Article 7 of the Bunkers Convention, and it does not have to contain any particular sum of insurance. <sup>133</sup> Thus, as long as the certificate is valid according to Article 7.2, the issuing State and limitation regime applicable in it will be out of importance.

In accordance with Articles 7.2, the certificates attesting that insurance in accordance with the Bunkers Convention is in force shall be issued for each ship. As a rule, the certificates shall be carried on board of the ship but the Convention permits the certificates to be kept in electronic form as well. A State party may give notification that ships entering or leaving its ports are not obliged to carry on board the Bunkers certificates, provided that the State party that issues the certificates maintains records in an electronic form accessible to all States parties attesting the existence of the certificates in question.

According to Article 7.11, each State partie shall ensure that all the ships operating under its flag have a valid insurance certificate. Furthermore, the States parties are obliged to ensure that all the ships entering or leaving their ports (or arriving at or leaving offshore facilities in their territorial sea) have valid Bunkers certificates in place. <sup>135</sup> In case the certificates are kept in electronic form and the records confirming that such certificates are in place are available electronically to all States parties, the port States are discharged from their obligation in accordance with Article 7.12. <sup>136</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 565f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.5 and 7.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.13.

As already have been mentioned before, certain types of offshore units fall within the definition of the ship provided by Article 1.1 and, accordingly, the bunkers certificates shall be issued for such units as well in order to confirm that sufficient insurance is in place.

# 3.6 Direct action against the insurer

# 3.6.1 Claimants' right of direct action

Another key element of the Bunkers Convention is the possibility for direct action, which allows a claim for compensation for pollution damage to be brought directly against the insurer or other persons providing financial security. <sup>137</sup> In this context it should be mentioned that the concept of direct action breaches old principle of indemnity insurance, which is commonly referred to as "pay to be paid" rule of P&I Clubs. According to this principle, the insured would not be indemnified by the insurer until the insured himself has made the compensation to the claimants. Neither would a third party have any right to bring the action directly against the P&I Clubs. <sup>138</sup>Nonetheless, after having been accepted in other liability Conventions, the concept did not raise any strong oppositions from the International Group of P&I Clubs in the context of the Bunkers Convention. <sup>139</sup>

The right of direct action is not limited to the cases when the compulsory insurance is in place, as the claim may be brought against the insurer of the vessel of less than 1000 GT, provided that voluntarily insurance is taken out by the registered owner of the vessel in question. <sup>140</sup> Conversely, it is interesting to note that the right of direct action is expressly stated only in respect of the liability insurer of the registered owner. <sup>141</sup> Therefore, it remains unclear whether claim for pollution damage may as well be brought directly against the insurer of liable person other than the registered owner in case the insurance was taken out by him voluntarily. <sup>142</sup>

This right of direct action is certainly advantageous for pollution victims as the insurer is normally in a much secure financial position than the

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Hazelwood, Steven J., *P&I Clubs: Law and Practice*, 3rd ed., London: Lloyd's of London Press, 2000, p. 141f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm</a> (visited 11 May 2010).

Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,
 p. 40f.
 Art. 7.10: "Any claim for compensation for pollution damage may be brought directly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Art. 7.10: "Any claim for compensation for pollution damage may be brought directly against the insurer or other person providing financial security for the registered owner's liability for pollution damage..."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 183.

shipowner. Moreover, there may be cases where the insured is not financially capable to compensate the claimants unless he is first indemnified by his insurer. <sup>143</sup> The accessibility problem may also be mentioned in this regard. The right of direct action has proved to be an efficient solution to common problem of the unavailability of the shipowner of polluting ship or the exhausting pursuits of the beneficial owners, as the insurer will normally be available in order to remain in business. 144

#### 3.6.2 Defences available to the insurer

In case a claim is brought directly against the insurer, he in turn may invoke the same defences, which would have been available to shipowner (other than bankruptcy or winding up of the shipowner). 145 In addition, the insurer may invoke that the pollution damage resulted from the wilful misconduct of the shipowner according to Article 7.10. It is worth mentioning that the precise meaning of "wilful misconduct" varies dependant on the context since the interpretation is strongly influenced by public policy considerations. 146 For instance, interpretation of wording "wilful misconduct" in relation to limitation of liability rules may be different from that in relation to insurance law. 147 Therefore, as the term is not further defined under the Bunkers Convention, its interpretation may vary dependent on the court, which delivers decision on the case. The burden of proving the fact of wilful misconduct on the part of the shipowner and it being a proximate cause of the pollution damage lies on the insurer. In case when the insurer succeeds to prove that damage resulted from the wilful misconduct of the shipowner, the latter one himself will have to bear the entire compensation costs. 148

The insurer may as well validly invoke non-payment of premium by the insured, which per se constitutes a fundamental breach of the contract and results in loss of the insurance cover. Though, where a right of set-offs in respect of unpaid premiums is expressly stated in the insurance contract, the failure of the insured to make a duly payment would not constitute a legitimate reason for refusal to compensate third-party claimants. 149

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,

p. 174.

144 Røsæg, Erik, *Compulsory Maritime Insurance*, Scandinavian Institute of Maritime Law

250 Oda Nordisk Institutt for Siørett, p.3; available at: http://folk.uio.no/erikro/WWW/corrgr/insurance/simply.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Clarke, Malcolm A., *The Law of Insurance Contracts*, 4th ed., London: LLP, 2002, p.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, pp. 185-189.

Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, pp. 185, 41.

149 Hazelwood, Steven J., p. 314f.

Apart from the policy defence of wilful misconduct (which is expressly allowed) and non-payment of premium, the insurer may not invoke defences based on the insurance contract (such as misrepresentation, breach of good faith obligation, etc.) that he could otherwise invoke in proceedings initiated by the shipowner against him. 150 Thus, the right of direct action may be considered as highly advantageous for the claimants as it may be exercised by claimants even in the circumstances when the shipowner is actually deprived of the right to compensation from his insurer due to policy defences. 151

Furthermore, independently of whether the shipowner is entitled to limit liability, the insurer may be able to limit his direct liability to an amount of the insurance required by article 7.1 of the Bunkers Convention, which in no event will exceed an amount calculated in accordance with the 1996 LLMC. 152 Accordingly, even when the shipowner is not entitled to limitation under Article 6, the insurer may still be able to limit his liability. In this regard the insurer enjoys a somewhat better position than the shipowner does. On the other hand, although the concrete liability ceiling under the Bunkers Convention is provided for the insurer's direct liability, it does not relieve the insurer of the risk of indemnifying the shipowner under an insurance policy in case the latter is found liable for much greater amount in a State without any limitation law. 153 In any event, the insurer may require the shipowner to be joined in the legal proceedings when the right of direct action is used by the claimants. 154

# 3.6.3 Insurer's right of recourse

Article 3.6 prescribes that nothing in the Bunkers Convention shall prejudice any right of recourse of the shipowner, which exists independently of the Convention. In regard of the right of recourse of the insurer the Convention is silent. It remains uncertain whether the insurer would be entitled to indemnity from the shipowner in case where the insurer had to compensate a claimant who brought a direct action against him but where he could have invoked a valid defence if the claim under the insurance policy was brought against him by the shipowner. As the issue is not regulated in the Convention, the answer is to be found either in the provisions of the insurance contract in question or in the law that governs that contract. When neither of these sources provides the answer, the applicable rules will have to be decided by the principles of private international law. 155

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 41. The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.1 and 7.10.

<sup>153</sup> Wu, Chao, pp. 562, 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,

Neither does the Bunkers Convention provide whether the shipowner's right of recourse can be assigned to or be subrogated by his insurer in case the direct action is brought by the claimant. <sup>156</sup> In practice, the doctrine of subrogation applies to all insurance contracts, including the contracts of indemnity between P&I Clubs and their members. Therefore, the insurer who has made compensation to the third party claimants in case of bunkers pollution, would probably be entitled to obtain all the rights and remedies that the insured has in relation to that third party. 157

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, pp. 196-197.

157 Hazelwood, Steven J., p. 303f.

# 4 Selected issues under the Bunkers Convention

# 4.1 Compatibility of the Bunkers Convention with other international regimes

The Bunkers Convention is said to be "the final piece in the puzzle of Conventions concerning oil pollution from ships" <sup>158</sup>. Therefore, it appears to be relevant to examine how well does this "final piece of the puzzle" fit in the existing liability and compensation systems. Certain rights and obligations set out in the Bunkers Convention, such as liability to pay compensation and the right to limit liability, will partly depend on the relevant provisions of other international regimes concerning the matter. For the apparent reasons, the Bunkers Convention should be closely coordinated with other international instruments concerned with oil pollution. As will be seen below, the right to claim compensation will not only depend on provisions of the Bunkers Convention as certain rules of the CLCs should be taken into account as well. As regards the shipowner's right to limit his liability for claims brought under the Bunkers Convention, such right has to be admissible not only by the Bunkers Convention but by other limitation regimes that might be applicable in each particular case.

# 4.1.1 Compatibility with the CLCs

As was mentioned before, the damage caused by ship's bunkers is partly covered by the CLC regimes. In order to avoid overlaps with the 1992 CLC, the Bunkers Convention makes it clear that it does not purport to replace the existing provisions of the 1992 CLC by stating that: "This Convention shall not apply to pollution damage as defined in the Civil Liability Convention, whether or not compensation is payable in respect of it under that Convention". <sup>159</sup>

Although tankers are expressly excluded from the Bunkers Convention, there may be some limited situations when the Convention would be applicable to the tanker vessels as well. While the 1992 CLC applies to bunker spills from laden tankers and to bunker spills from unladen oil tankers that have residues of persistent oil from a previous voyage on board <sup>160</sup>, the Bunkers Convention would cover the remaining gap as regards

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., *The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?*, p. 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 4. "Civil Liability Convention" means the 1992 CLC; the Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> The 1992 CLC, Art. 1.1 and 1.5.

oil tankers, namely, apply to bunker spills from unladen tankers that have no such residues on board. <sup>161</sup>

Unfortunately, not in all scenarios the balance between the Bunkers Convention and the CLCs is achieved. Some undesired gaps in application may be caused by the exclusion in Article 4.1 of the Bunkers Convention and particularly by the phrase "whether or not compensation is payable" under the 1992 CLC. For example, an unfortunate scenario would appear in a case of bunker spill pollution from a laden tanker in a State, which is not a party to either of the CLCs, but is a party to the Bunkers Convention. In such circumstances, neither of the mentioned Conventions would apply. The Bunkers Convention would not be applicable because such damage falls within the definition of pollution damage provided in the 1992 CLC and thus, is excluded by Article 4.1 of the Bunkers Convention from its scope of application. The CLCs would not apply simply because the State in question is not a party to them.

Another unfortunate situation due to the prescribed exclusion would emerge in a case of bunker spill pollution from an unladen tanker with residues of a persistent oil cargo from a previous voyage on board caused in a State party to both the 1969 CLC and the Bunkers Convention but not to the 1992 CLC. The 1969 Convention would not be applicable as its scope of application is limited to ships actually carrying oil in bulk as cargo and, therefore, unladen tankers are not covered by its provisions. The Bunkers Convention would not apply as the damage caused falls within the definition of pollution damage stipulated in the 1992 CLC, namely damage caused by spills of bunker oil from an unladen tanker having residues from a previous voyage on board. The 1992 CLC itself would not apply, as the State in question is not a party to it.

It appears that these two loopholes were not considered during the preparatory work and their creation is a mere side-effect of the Convention. Probably, the risk that abovementioned scenarios will occur is comparatively minor, still, theoretically two legal gaps have been created which per se undermine the uniformity that the Bunkers Convention is aimed to provide.

# 4.1.2 Compatibility with Limitation Regimes, LLMCs particularly

As have been pointed out, the liability for bunkers pollution will be determined by the Bunkers Convention, while the limitation of liability by

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., Marine Pollution from Shipping Activities, 14 JIML, 2008, p. 123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 24f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> The 1969 CLC, Art. 1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 4.1 and 1.6; the 1992 CLC, Art. 1.1.

other applicable regimes. To be workable, such mechanism has to be subjected to functioning interplay between both instruments involved.

Although different limitation scenarios are theoretically possible under the Bunkers Convention, the statistics imply that either the 1976 LLMC in its original version or as amended by the Protocol thereto adopted in 1996 will most likely be applicable for bunker oil pollution. <sup>167</sup> For that reason, the interaction between the Bunkers Convention and the LLMCs will be illustrated in discussion below. 168 Other international limitation regimes will be mentioned if deemed relevant and necessary in the context.

#### 4.1.2.1 Inconsistency regarding "pollution damage"

As have been presented above, "pollution damage" recognised by the Bunkers Convention may be roughly divided in four categories which are property damage, pure economic losses, some forms of environmental reinstatement and costs of preventive measures. As on the limitation matters the Convention is tightly linked to other limitation regimes the eligibility of bunkers pollution damage for limitation would depend solely on recognition of the same categories of damage by those other regimes.

In its submission to the Diplomatic Conference the International Group of P&I Clubs pointed out that there was an erroneous assumption that in the States parties where either of the LLMCs applies it would provide an unconditional right of limitation for pollution damage caused by ship's bunkers. The attention was drawn to the risk that the LLMCs may give no general right of limitation for bunker pollution claims in case pollution does not result in physical damage to property or indicates infringement of rights (for example economic loss caused by disruption to a business due to oil spill) as such claims fall outside the existing wording of the LLMCs. <sup>169</sup> The CMI was more specific on this issue by clearly pointing out areas of potential difficulties and their effects. In its submission the CMI urged for reconsideration of workability of a instrument on liability for bunker spills without a uniform system of limitation. <sup>170</sup> Unfortunately, although the problems were identified and recognised, the matter was not further investigated due to the time constraints. 171

As the LLMCs do not explicitly grant the right to limit liability for pollution claims, it is necessary to examine whether bunkers pollution damage claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,

p. 145.

Since the 1996 LLMC neither alter in any way provisions of the 1976 LLMC concerned with claims subject to limitation, nor does it contain any amendments or clarifications of the issues concerning the limitation of liability for bunker spill claims, both Conventions will be jointly referred to as the LLMCs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-</a> <u>convention.htm</u> (visited 11 May 2010). 170 LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-</a> convention.htm (visited 11 May 2010).

would be eligible for limitation under some of the provisions. Thus, for ease of reference claims subject to limitation under Article 2.1 of the LLMCs are presented below:

- (a) claims in respect of loss of life or personal injury or loss of or damage to property (including damage to harbour works, basins and waterways and aids to navigation), occurring on board or in direct connexion with the operation of the ship or with salvage operations, and consequential loss resulting therefrom;
- (b) claims in respect of loss resulting from delay in the carriage by sea of cargo, passengers or their luggage;
- (c) claims in respect of other loss resulting from infringement of rights other than contractual rights, occurring in direct connexion with the operation of the ship or salvage operations;
- (d) claims in respect of the raising, removal, destruction or the rendering harmless of a ship which is sunk, wrecked, stranded or abandoned, including anything that is or has been on board such ship;
- (e) claims in respect of the removal, destruction or the rendering harmless of the cargo of the ship;
- (f) claims of a person other than the person liable in respect of measures taken in order to avert or minimize loss for which the person liable may limit his liability in accordance with this Convention, and further loss caused by such measures.

The issue of limitation of liability for pollution claims under the LLMCs was first considered in the litigation arising from the *Aegean Sea* incident that occurred in 1992. The court held that pollution claims eligible for limitation in this case would include: i) claims for property damage; ii) property clean-up costs or preventive measures; iii) loss of use and loss of profit claims by fishing boat owners, fishermen, shop owners, local municipalities etc. All three types of claim were either "in respect of damage to property" or "consequential loss claims" and therefore were falling within Article 2.1(a) of the LLMCs. The court's summary on the claims eligible for limitation revealed that some more common types of pollution claims were not specifically distinguished by the LLMCs and as a consequence, would not be covered. Therefore, some typical claims for pollution damage are considered in this regard below.

#### Clean-up expenses and preventive measures

Claims for clean-up costs and preventive measures are to be expected in any pollution incident, bunker spill pollution being no exception. When claims for such costs are made under the Bunkers Convention, the shipowner may limit his liability under the LLMCs provided that either Article 2.1(d), which is mainly concerned with wreck removal and related claims, or Article 2.1(f), which deals with preventive measures, is applicable. However, a brief look at Article 2.1(d) would suffice to understand that

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Aegean Sea Traders Corp v Repsol Petroleo SA. (*The Aegean Sea*) [1998] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 796.

right to limitation under this category is restricted to situations where a ship is "sunk, wrecked, stranded or abandoned". Thus, in practice, the right of limitation under this category may successfully be claimed in cases where bunker oil is leaking from ruptured double bottoms of the ship as a result of a grounding. 174 It is, however, obvious that possible causes of bunkers pollution are not limited to groundings, as other types of incidents, such as collisions, may as well lead to equally devastating pollution without necessity of ship being wrecked, stranded or abandoned. Still, the wording of the Article makes it clear that the right to limitation is linked to a state of a polluter ship, while cause of pollution is out of importance.<sup>175</sup>

Furthermore, Article 2.1(d) is not in force in the national laws of all States, which have ratified the LLMCs, as the right to exclude wreck removal claims from limitation when enacting the LLMCs in domestic legislation is prescribed by Article 18.1 of the LLMCs. <sup>176</sup> Some states have chosen to exercise this right for the purpose of preserving a policy of unlimited liability for wreck removal. As a consequence, other claims that could have been brought under Article 2.1(d), including certain types of bunker pollution claims, will be excluded from the right to limitation. 177

In cases where Article 2.1(d) is not applicable, the shipowner may still limit his liability for clean-up costs or preventive measures under Article 2.1(f), provided that the measures were taken to avert or minimize the losses for which liability may be limited in accordance with the Convention. Thus, the applicability of Article 2.1(f) will partially depend on interpretation of other categories of claims listed in Article 2.1. If Article 2.1(d) is not applicable, the only losses remaining under Article 2.1 would be those for property damage, and in certain cases, economic loss. <sup>178</sup> Taking into account that these types of losses are mainly suffered by private sector, while preventive and clean-up measures are usually taken by public authorities, the question may arise whether such measures were taken in order to minimize such losses or whether the measures have incidentally had such effect?<sup>179</sup> The risk should not be neglected that this provision may be interpreted differently depending on the circumstances in each particular case.

In addition, the wording of Article 2.1(f) clearly shows that it applies only to measures undertaken by "a person other than the person liable". With other words, the shipowner may limit his liability incurred for the costs of response measures or clean-up operations undertaken by others, though he is not allowed to submit his own "response costs claim" for payment from his limitation fund. 180 In this regard it should be mentioned that both CLCs and

<sup>175</sup> LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> The reservation in this regard was made by several states, such as Australia, Belgium, China, Cyprus, France, Germany, Ireland, Japan, the Netherlands, Norway, Singapore and the UK.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> LEG 74/4/2; De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 798.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> The LLMC, Art. 2.1(a) and (c); De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 798.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> LEG 74/4/2; De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 798.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 563; De la Rue & Anderson, p. 798.

the HNS Convention take account of costs and sacrifices incurred by the shipowner in preventing or minimizing damage by allowing him to submit his own "response costs claim" for payment from his limitation fund. Such construction in these Conventions was chosen for the purpose of providing the shipowners with incentive to take prompt actions when pollution incident occurs, as such in many cases would be a pre-requisite for a successful pollution response. <sup>181</sup>

In practice, spill response measures are normally organised and financed (wholly or in part) by the shipowner and his insurer, as this is proved to be more effective way to combat the pollution than simply leaving authorities to arrange the response measures themselves and subsequently claim compensation. However, it should be remembered that in case of bunker spill the shipowner will not be ranked as a claimant against his own limitation fund for the response costs incurred by him. Therefore, as a logical consequence, there undoubtedly may be cases where the shipowner and his insurer would decide not to take any response measures at all, as their financial interests would be better served by leaving the task entirely to third parties. <sup>182</sup>

As regards clean-up cost, the 1957 Limitation Convention<sup>183</sup> should be mentioned as well. As the provisions of the Convention regarding claims admitted for limitation do not differ significantly from the corresponding articles of the LLMCs, all the difficulties attributable to the application of the LLMCs will equally arise when the 1957 Limitation Convention is applicable. Still, it is important to mention that the latter Convention does not contain any provision similar to Article 2.1(f) of the LLMCs. Thus, when the 1957 Limitation Convention is applicable, the shipowner's right to limitation of liability for clean-up costs and removal operations will be limited only to cases when the ship is sunk, stranded or abandoned. <sup>184</sup>

#### Pure economic loss

The Bunkers Convention recognises the right of pollution victims to indemnity for economic loss, including pure economic loss. The experience has shown that the vast majority of claims for economic loss in case of oil pollution from ships are claims for pure economic loss suffered as result of damage to the marine environment as such, rather than attributable to some property. Such loss is usually suffered by the tourist and fishing industries for income sustained as a result of pollution to the environment in the area but without any damage to their proprietary interests. Claims for recovery of pure economic loss are normally recognised by most legal systems, including the Bunkers Convention, without regard to the fact that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 563; De la Rue & Anderson, p. 798f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> LEG 74/4/2; De la Rue & Anderson, p. 799.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> International Convention relating to the Limitation of the Liability of Owners of Sea-Going Ships, 1957.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 564.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B, p. 797.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> LEG 74/4/2.

claimants do not have any rights of ownership in the polluted natural resources on which they depend for their incomes. The situation is somewhat uncertain as regards the limitation of liability for this category of claims under the LLMCs. In cases where economic loss is suffered as a consequence of a property damage it would be embraced by Article 2.1(a). Where the loss is not a consequence of any damage to the property of the claimant, the right of limitation may only be claimed under Article 2.1(c), which embraces "claims in respect of other loss resulting from infringement of rights". 188

The phrase "infringement of rights" may nevertheless be interpreted differently and lead to conflicting decisions in courts. 189 Although the draftsmen of the 1976 LLMC agreed upon exclusion of claims involving contractual rights, such as claims for non-performance of charterparties, they did not engaged in further discussions as to the precise meaning of the non-contractual rights. 190 As neither the precise legal nature of infringed non-contractual right, nor the nature of the legal liability incurred by its infringement is clear, the outcome in each case will vary dependent on interpretation of the meaning of "infringement of rights". For example, in some civil law countries there is no distinction between consequential and pure economic loss and the recoverability of claims for economic loss may be admitted on the basis that the claimant's rights have been infringed. 191 Therefore, it might seem reasonable that, following the same path of interpretation, the right to limit liability for pure economic loss under Article 2.1(c) would be recognised as well. A different approach is adopted at common law, where the concept of "rights" being "infringed" is relatively unusual and a physical attachment has traditionally constituted a prerequisite to recovery for economic losses. 192 In consequence, claims for pure economic loss admitted under the Bunkers Convention may fall outside the application of the LLMCs with a consequence of liability for this types of claims being unlimited.

As it can be seen, the LLMCs may be interpreted differently in various jurisdictions, and therefore, to some extent it remains unclear whether the claims for pure economic loss brought under the Bunkers Convention would be eligible for limitation or not.

#### **Environmental damage**

Under the Bunkers Convention, claims for damage to the marine environment are limited to the costs of reasonable measures of reinstatement. At the first sight it may seem that liability for a claim for the

1 (

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 797.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 563.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> LEG 74/4/2. The wording "infringement of rights" is likewise present in the 1957 Brussels Limitation Convention, which has given rise to conflicting decisions in national courts. The main issue was whether contractual rights are embraced by the phrase.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Griggs, Patrick, Williams, Richard & Farr, Jeremy, *Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims*, 4<sup>th</sup> ed., London: LLP, 2005, p. 22; LEG 74/4/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 797.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 563.

costs of this kind will be limitable under Article 2.1(f) of the LLMCs, as liability for a claim in respect of "measures to minimize loss". Unfortunately, this will not be the case as the environmental damage itself is nor recognised as a "loss" by the LLMCs. <sup>193</sup>

## 4.1.2.2 Inconsistency regarding "ship"

The problem of inconsistency regarding "ship" is purely definitional non-compliance between the Conventions, still, it leads to quite undesirable consequences. The Bunkers Convention defines a "ship" as "any seagoing vessel and seaborne craft of any type whatsoever". <sup>194</sup> This means that various offshore structures, independently of whether they are moveable or have to be moved, are covered by the Bunkers Convention. Consequently, such offshore structures as floating production, storage and offloading units (FPSOs) and mobile offshore units (MOUs) will be required to maintain insurance in accordance with the Convention and have Bunkers Certificates issued to them if they are flagged by a State party or if they are entering or leaving a port of a State party.

As regards the LLMCs, the right of limitation is available to the owner, charterer, manager and operator of any "seagoing ship". 195 Although the concept of "seagoing ship" is not further defined, Article 15.5 clarifies that the LLMCs are not applicable to "aircushion vehicles" and "floating platforms constructed for the purpose of exploring or exploiting the natural resources of the seabed or the subsoil thereof". Considering the variety of modern offshore craft and the ongoing debates regarding their status in relation to ships, no concrete answer can be expected as to which types of such craft do enjoy the right of limitation under the LLMCs and which do not. Certain categories of offshore craft, such as mobile drilling units, would probably not be embraced by the exclusion of Article 15.5(b) regarding floating platforms. Still, in order to be covered by the LLMCs, such craft should be regarded as "seagoing ships" in the meaning of the LLMCs. 196 The same dilemma would be faced when FPSOs are involved. As certain types of such units are equipped with their own means of navigation and propulsion, the exclusion in Article 15.5(b) would not be applicable. It is however open to debate whether such units may be regarded as "seagoing ships". 197

The Bunkers Convention allows the action to be brought directly against insurer whose liability in such case would be limited in accordance with the 1996 LLMC. On this point the linkage with the 1996 LLMC is far from successful as, taking into account the 1996 LLMC's definition of "ship" and particularly the exclusion of the offshore units, the insurer's liability under the Bunkers Convention will most certainly not be eligible for limitation.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 564.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 1.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> The 1976 LLMC, Art. 2.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 800.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., p. 800.

Thus, issuing Bunkers Blue Cards for such offshore units, the P&I Clubs would in such a way certify that the insurance is in place for unlimited liability. <sup>198</sup>

At the first sight the definition of "ship" in the Bunkers Convention may merely appear to indicate a strong desire of the drafters to extend the application of the Convention beyond the traditional meaning of the ship. However, considering the issue from the insurers' perspective, it may be seen as "a major liability loophole" within the Bunkers Convention. <sup>199</sup> The drafters of the Convention unintentionally have created a problem for P&I Clubs and their members – the operators of offshore units, since provided definition of "ship" differs from that in the LLMCs, the limitation regime recommended to be used in conjunction with the Bunkers Convention. <sup>200</sup> Therefore, although the right to limitation is recognised both in Article 6 of the Bunkers Convention as well as in its preamble, the application of such right as to the offshore units in practice will be barred due to inconsistency with LLMCs.

# 4.2 Does the Bunkers Convention ensure the adequate compensation for pollution damage?

As the adequate compensation to the pollution victims is in focus for the Bunkers Convention, it is necessary to confront the basic question, namely, whether the Convention will succeed in ensuring that such compensation will be available. Since only few high-profile bunker spills incidents have ever occurred, it is quite difficult to evaluate the efficacy of the Convention for any potential bunker spillage. Nevertheless, some distinguishing elements that will undoubtedly have impact on the efficacy of the Convention will be highlighted in this sub-chapter.

# 4.2.1 No supplementary layer of compensation

Most of the differences between the Bunkers Convention and the 1992 CLC in essence may be attributable to the fact that the Bunkers Convention is a single-tier compensation system, while the 1992 CLC is supplemented by the second and third layers. <sup>201</sup> Although during the drafting process of the Bunkers Convention the alternative of a two-tier compensation mechanism was considered, the current regime was given preference due to several factors. It was considered that a single-tier compensation system would be

43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> Standard Bulletin, available at: <a href="http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809\_SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf">http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809\_SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf</a> (visited 12 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> LLOYD'S LIST, Solutions Found for Mobile Offshore Unit Bunker Loophole, 1 September 2009.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup>Standard Bulletin, available at: <a href="http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809\_SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf">http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809\_SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf</a> (visited 12 May 2010).

<sup>201</sup> De la Rue, Colin M, p. 3-4.

sufficient in most cases to ensure full payment to those who are affected by the bunker spills. As the Bunkers Convention deals with bunkers pollution linked to operation of the vessel, there is no such cargo interests involved that should be called upon to contribute in compensation by means of establishing a second-tier, as the case with the CLCs and HNS Convention. 202 In addition, keeping in mind the difficulties encountered during the preparatory work on the HNS Convention as regards the second compensation tier, it was decided that by adoption of a one-tier mechanism it would be easier to reach a compromise between the parties affected by the Convention.<sup>203</sup>

Thus, in the absence of any supplementary fund of compensation the shipowner constitutes the sole source of compensation. Therefore, at the diplomatic conference most delegates preferred the adoption of the OPA 90 approach on the issue, thereby extending the definition of the shipowner to encompass the other persons as well. 204

# 4.2.2 Does the strict liability imposed on several defendants increase the prospects of compensation?

In the absence of any second compensation tier, the increased number of liable persons was deemed to be a perfect solution in order to guarantee that those who suffer from bunkers pollution damage would be efficiently compensated. It was stated that the channelling provisions under the CLCs, although proved to be workable, were deemed to be not suitable for the compensation mechanism created under the Bunkers Convention. 205

Theoretically, these arguments in support of non-channelling solution seem to be justified. Though, in the context of the whole system provided by the Bunkers Convention, the effect of strict liability imposed on several defendants may be limited. It should be kept in mind that the registered shipowner is the only one who is required to take out compulsory liability insurance or provide other equivalent financial security in order to guarantee sufficient indemnity. In practice it probably will mean that all claimants will in first place seek compensation from the registered owner or from his liability insurer and ignore the other persons falling within the definition of shipowner, save in some exceptional cases. <sup>206</sup> Since the liability insurance is

<sup>205</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 137f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 137; Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 137f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-</a> convention.htm (visited 11 May 2010).

optional for other potentially liable persons under the Bunker Convention, there is no guarantee that the compensation will be received from them.<sup>207</sup>

Unfortunately, the Bunkers Convention is silent on the question how the joint and several liability of multiple defendants should work in practice. Thus, in absence of any specific provisions the outcome seems to depend totally on the claimants' choice of liable parties. The claimant may enforce the liability against any particular person falling within the definition of shipowner by an individual action or against several persons by a joint action, choosing any combination of them he deems as most secure. In case the action is brought against several defendants simultaneously another problem will arise, namely, how should the liability be distributed between several defendants and what share of compensation should each of them stand for. <sup>208</sup> As the Bunkers Convention does not clearly prescribe whether the limitation rights of the persons encompassed by the definition of the shipowner are independent or joint, the question may arise whether the compensation may be demanded from each of these persons up to the applicable limits for each of them. <sup>209</sup> The LLMCs are clear on this point by stating that a limitation fund constituted by one responsible person shall be regarded to be established for all persons. <sup>210</sup> Therefore, recovery of the same losses several times over from each defendant would not be possible.<sup>211</sup> On the other hand, where the right to limitation will be governed by the national legislation the issue may be interpreted differently and in such case the prospects of adequate compensation may be increased. 212

The Bunkers Convention does not stipulate how the test for the right of limitation should be applied and whether one defendant's wilful misconduct would deprive the other persons of their right of limitation as well. <sup>213</sup> In principle, when one of the liable persons is deprived of his right to limitation due to his behaviour, the right of limitation of other defendants who are jointly and severally liable with that persons should not be affected. However, in some areas of marine insurance law, fault on the side of agents and subordinates of the shipowner is channelled to the alter ego of the company due to the close relationship between the management and ownership of the vessel. Still, it is quite difficult to define whose wilful misconducts the insured would be responsible for, particularly considering that this issue is not limited to marine insurance. <sup>214</sup> In Article 7.10 of the

http://www.comitemaritime.org/future/pdf/misconduct\_a\_id.pdf (visited 13 May 2010). Although some common features regarding responsibility for faults of others are identified in this article, the author points out that the more detailed regulations on the issue vary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 136. <sup>208</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 559.

Tsimplis, Michael N., Marine Pollution from Shipping Activities, p. 127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> The LLMCs, Art. 11.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., Marine Pollution from Shipping Activities, p. 127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 559.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Wilhelmsen, Trine-Lise, Issues of Marine Insurance: Misconduct of the Assured and Identification, 2002, p. 27; available at:

Bunkers Convention only wilful misconduct of the shipowner is mentioned and there is no indication that such would extend to embraces the wilful misconduct of the shipowner's servants as well. Still, a wilful misconduct on the part of any of the persons encompassed by the definition of shipowner may free the shipowner's insurer from his indemnity obligation.<sup>215</sup>

In conclusion, it may be pointed out that apart from the requirement of compulsory insurance, the Bunkers Convention does not actually guarantee that funds would be available for payment even for the shipowner's strict liability. In any event, the amount of such insurance under no circumstances will exceed an amount calculated in accordance with the 1996 LLMC. <sup>216</sup> In cases where the LLMCs are applicable no distinction will be made for bunkers pollution claims and such will be ranked alongside various other claims. 217 Therefore, where the bunkers pollution damage is suffered together with other property damage, the prospects of recovery in full for all claimants may be reduced due to the liability limits. 218 Bearing in mind the absence of any concrete provisions on the distribution of liability, the liable parties and their underwriters are unlikely to agree quickly on how the liability to be apportioned between them. Considering the vitality of immediate response demanded by all pollution incidents, the entrustment of defendants and their insurers with the task of practical apportionment of liability will inevitably slow down the process of payment of the compensation.<sup>219</sup>

# 4.2.3 Funds available in case of bunkers pollution incident

Although several different limitation regimes may be applicable in case of bunker spill, in most of the incidents either of the LLMCs will be applicable. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate and compare the amounts available for claimants under both regimes. Primarily, it should be clarified that in case of bunkers pollution the limitation fund will be constituted by the shipowner in accordance with the applicable limitation regime. Out of this fund the victims of pollution damage will be compensated in proportion to their established claims. The same model is used for oil pollution from tankers under the CLCs.

Thus, under the 1976 LLMC the limits of liability for claims other than loss of life or personal injury is fixed at 167,000 SDR (Special Drawing

<sup>219</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 189f.
<sup>216</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.1.
<sup>217</sup> De la Rue, Colin, *Bunker spill risk*, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Tsimplis, Michael N., Marine Pollution from Shipping Activities, p. 126.

Rights)<sup>220</sup> for the vessels not exceeding 500 tonnes. For each additional tonne the following amounts will be added: 167 SDR for each tonne from 501 to 30,000; 125 SDR for each tonne from 30,001 to 70,000; 83 SDR for each tonne in excess of 70,000.<sup>221</sup>

With some passage of time the limits prescribed by the 1976 LLMC were not sufficient anymore to provide an adequate compensation and therefore, the LLMC Protocol 1996 was adopted in order to increase the limits. Thus, under the 1996 LLMC the limit of liability for property claims for ships not exceeding 2,000 gross tonnes is fixed at 1 million SDR instead of 417,500 SDR under the 1976 LLMC. For each additional tonne the following amounts will be added: 400 SDR for each tonne from 2,001 to 30,000; 300 SDR for each tonne from 30,001 to 70,000; 200 SDR for each tonne in excess of 70,000.<sup>222</sup>

For the sake of comparison, the limitation amounts provided by the 1992 CLC, as amended<sup>223</sup>, should be stated as well, as such amounts would be applicable in case of bunker spill from a tanker. According to the 1992 CLC the owner of a ship is entitled to limit his liability in respect of any incident to an aggregate amount calculated as follows: 4,510,000 SDR for a ship not exceeding 5,000 gross tonnes; 631 SDR for each additional tonne of a ship with a tonnage in excess thereof. The aggregate amount shall in no event exceed 89,770,000 SDR. 224

The chart below shows the amounts of compensation that will be available in a bunker spill incident involving a vessel of 5,000 gross tonnes when either of the regimes is applicable:

	A tanker of 5,000 gross tonnes	A non-tanker of 5,000 gross tonnes	
Applicable limitation regime	CLC 1992 (post-Nov 2003)	LLMC 1996	LLMC 1976
Limitation amounts (SDR <sup>225</sup> )	4,510,000	2,200,000	918, 500

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> SDR stands for the Special Drawing Right as defined by the International Monetary Fund. As regards the calculation of the value of the SDR and the conversion of the amounts into the national currency of the States, see the 1976 LLMC, Art. 8.1.

http://www.imf.org/external/np/fin/data/param rms mth.aspx (visited 15 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> The 1976 LLMC, Art. 6.1(b). <sup>222</sup> The 1996 LLMC, Art. 3.1(b).

The Resolution was adopted by the Legal Committee of the IMO on 18 October 2000 which adopted the amendments of the limitation amounts in Article 5.1 of the 1992 CLC as presented in here. The Resolution entered into force on 1 November 2003 and thus, lower amounts applied to incidents occurring before 1 November 2003.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> The 1992 CLC, Art. 5.1, as amended by the Resolution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Exchange rate for SDR is available at:

From the numbers presented in this simple chart one can see directly the huge difference in limitation amounts provided by three Conventions that may be applicable in case of bunkers pollution. Thus, in case of bunker spill from an oil tanker the available compensation amount will be considerably higher than in case of such pollution from a non-tanker. One should also remember that in case of the 1992 CLC there would be two additional layers of compensation. <sup>226</sup>

Moreover, it is self-evident that in case of the 1992 CLC the prospects of the claimants to be fully compensated are much greater as this regime is wholly dedicated to oil pollution claims. Where the LLMCs are applicable, the claims for bunkers pollution damage and other maritime claims would be brought at the same time and, thus, the limitation fund constituted by the shipowner will be distributed among all the claimants after the ascertainment of the liability. <sup>227</sup> In addition, the amount of compensation will differ significantly dependent on which of the LLMCs is applicable in the case.

This chart illustrates a quite straightforward situation, namely, when one limitation regime is applicable. Undoubtedly, the most "desirable" scenario in case of a bunker oil incident would be if such resulted exclusively in bunkers pollution damage and all the States affected were the parties to the 1996 LLMC. In practice, however, it may as well happen that the incident will involve several States in which different limitations regimes are in force. <sup>228</sup>

# 4.2.4 Bunkers pollution claims data

Notwithstanding the lack of practical application of the Bunkers Convention, certain claims data as regards bunker spills were provided by the International Group of P&I Clubs at the IMO's 96<sup>th</sup> session in August 2009. The main issue of concern was whether the limitation system prescribed by the Bunkers Convention would be sufficient to cover the costs arising out of bunkers pollution incident. In total, information on 595 incidents that occurred during the period 2000 to August 2009 was provided. The presented claims data was based on the information rendered by all 13 member Clubs of the International Group in regard of bunker oil pollution damage caused by ships entered in their Clubs. Since the total cost of a significant number of cases was minimal and limitation of liability did not represent a problem, the statistics provided by a number of member

of compensation available under the CLC and Fund Conventions (visited 15 May 2010). <sup>227</sup> Zhu, Ling, *Can the Bunkers Convention Ensure Adequate Compensation for Pollution Victims?*, p. 217.

48

The second layer of compensation up to 203,000,000 SDR will be provided by the 1992 Fund. The Supplementary Fund guarantees the compensation up to 750,000,000 SDR. See, the 1992 Fund Convention, Art. 4.4; the Supplementary Fund Protocol, Art. 4.2. See also <a href="http://www.itopf.com/spill-compensation/clc-fund-convention">http://www.itopf.com/spill-compensation/clc-fund-convention</a> ITOPF - Maximum amounts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Zhu, Ling, Can the Bunkers Convention Ensure Adequate Compensation for Pollution Victims?, p. 217.

Clubs excluded cases where the total costs of claims were less than 100,000 USD. <sup>229</sup>

The provided statistics has shown that only in eight incidents the costs of pollution damage exceeded the limits of the 1996 LLMC (independent of the fact whether or not the regime is in force in the State in whose waters the incident occurred). <sup>230</sup> In four of these incidents, the 1996 LLMC was applicable, but in each case its limits were significantly exceeded, ranging from approximately 9.5 million USD above the 1996 LLMC limit (involving a ship with 10,957 GT) to approximately 50-60 millions USD above the 1996 LLMC limit (involving a ship with 1,466 GT). <sup>231</sup>

In two other cases the 1996 LLMC limits were not in force at the time when the incidents occurred but came into force subsequently. While in one of the cases the total cost of claims would have exceeded the 1996 LLMC limits by a relatively small amount (approximately 1 million USD), in the other incident (involving a vessel with 22,412 GT) the 1996 LLMC limits would have been exceeded by a significant amount (approximately 19 million USD). In the remaining two cases, both States in whose waters the incidents involving bunker spills occurred were neither party to the 1976 LLMC nor the 1996 LLMC, and this remained the case at the time the data was provided. <sup>232</sup>

Thus, according to the statistics presented by the International Group, the limits of liability prescribed by the 1996 LLMC in the vast majority of cases were sufficient to meet in full the claims brought for bunkers pollution damage. Only in eight cases these limits were exceeded, which represents 1.34% of the total number of reported bunker spill incidents.

These statistics undoubtedly indicate that there is relatively low risk that the limitation amount in accordance with the 1996 LLMC would be insufficient. One should, however, bear in mind that there are only 37 States parties to the 1996 LLMC, and mentioned limits would be applicable only in cases when the bunkers pollution occurs in waters of States parties. Therefore, the provided data represents sufficiency of the compensation available under the Bunkers Convention subject to the applicability of the liability limits of the 1996 LLMC. Although, the applicability of the liability limits of the 1996 LLMC is most favourable scenario, the fact that the other limitation regimes may be applicable as well may not be ignored. There are 52 States parties to the 1976 LLMC, the liability limits of which are more than two times lower than those prescribed by the 1996 LLMC. Unfortunately, there are no similar data available to estimate the risk of the limitation amount to be

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> LEG 96/6/2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> The analysis was based on the limits of liability provided by the 1996 LLMC due to the fact that this regime is the most recently adopted global limitation regime that is in force. See LEG 96/6/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> LEG 96/6/2. In the latter case the provided figure is quoted approximately since at the time the data in question was reported, the case remained open.

<sup>232</sup> LEG 96/6/2.

exceeded where the 1976 LLMC is applicable. Still, it is obvious that the percentage of the bunker spills incidents with the pollution damage costs exceeding the available limitation amount would be much higher in cases where the 1976 LLMC would be applicable.

In addition, the statistics have indicated that even a vessel with comparatively insignificant tonnage cannot be neglected as a potential polluter as the damage caused by it may end up with a relatively high amount. The abovementioned incident involving a ship with only 1,466 GT has so far been estimated to exceed the liability limits of the 1996 LLMC with 50-60 million USD. Accordingly, an incident involving a vessel with a gross tonnage slightly under the 1,000 GT (that is not required to be insured in accordance with the Bunkers Convention), may as well end up with relatively high cost of pollution damage. In such case, however, there may be no insurance in place and it is highly doubtful whether the shipowner himself may be considered as a sufficient compensation source.

# 4.3 Adequacy of the Convention

During the preparatory work on the Bunkers Convention the submission of the International Group of P&I Clubs pointed out that although a uniform system for bunkers pollution undeniably would be preferable, there was no pressing need for such regime. It was also stated that, judging from the experience of the P&I Clubs, the bunkers pollution so far has been combated satisfactory in most jurisdictions under national law. <sup>233</sup> The valid point was made by the Group that the efficacy of the future Convention should not be diluted by provisions which are neither necessary nor practical. <sup>234</sup>Indeed, the supremacy of the international instrument should not be taken for granted merely due to the fact of it being a worldwide regime; its superiority should be distinguished by thoroughly evaluated and selected provisions that provide a reasonable balance between the interests of all the concerned parties. Thus, this subchapter is devoted to evaluation of certain aspects of the Bunkers Convention in order to see how adequate are the means provided by the Convention in relation to the purpose they serve.

# 4.3.1 No uniform limitation regime

During the drafting of the Bunkers Convention three main alternatives for the limitation regime were considered by the delegates. The first option was to establish a free-standing limitation system under the Convention. It was, however, emphasized that the existing limitation Conventions do not exclude bunker spill claims from their application and therefore, establishing a separate limitation scheme exclusively devoted to bunkers

<sup>234</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> LEG/77/11.

pollution claims would be problematic, since it would create an overlap with these limitation regimes. <sup>236</sup> The second option was to tie the limits of liability to the existing regime of the 1992 CLC, while the third alternative was to tie the limits to already existing global limitation system, the 1996 LLMC, thereby avoiding linkage problems. However, considering the fact that the States parties to the Bunkers Convention not necessarily may be parties to the 1996 LLMC a significant limitation gap would have been created in respect of such States if the linkage was established merely with the 1996 LLMC. Still, the majority of the delegates agreed that bunkers pollution claims should be subject to already existing limitation rules. Therefore, it was decided that the shipowner or his insurer should have the right to limit liability under any applicable national or international regime, such as the 1996 LLMC.<sup>237</sup>

Obviously, the availability and applicability of several different limitation regimes disrupt the uniformity and predictability intended to be provided by any international instrument. Therefore, emphasizing the importance of uniform liability limits, the resolution on the limitation of liability was adopted, the purpose of which was to facilitate the ratification of the 1996 LLMC. <sup>238</sup> The resolution urges all States that have not yet become party to the 1996 LLMC to do so. The States are also encouraged to denounce the Limitation Conventions of 1924 and 1957.<sup>239</sup>

At present 37 States representing 42% of world tonnage are parties to the 1996 LLMC while 52 States representing almost 50% of tonnage are still parties to the 1976 LLMC. <sup>240</sup> These statistics per se indicate that the limitation amount will differ significantly dependent on the State in which bunkers pollution occurs. In addition, it should be remembered that some States have not ratified either of mentioned instruments but remain parties to the 1957 or 1924 Limitation Conventions both of which prescribe very low limits of liability. <sup>241</sup> Furthermore, some States, which are not parties to any international limitation regime, will instead apply the limits of liability provided by their domestic legislation, such as OPA 90 in the US. Other states, China being one example, may have no such national limitation law for pollution damage at all, and therefore the liability will be unlimited. 242

The shortcomings of several possible limitation scenarios are obvious. First of all, the linkage of the Bunkers Convention to several limitation schemes subjects persons liable for similar damage to very different levels of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p. 152.
 <sup>237</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 6.
 <sup>238</sup> See LEG 82/3/3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> The International Convention relating to Limitation of Liability of Owners of Sea-Going Ships, 1957 and The International Convention for Unification of Certain Rules relating to the Limitation of Liability of Owners of Sea-Going Vessels, 1924.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> The IMO data represents the status of the Conventions as at 30<sup>th</sup> of April 2010, available at: http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic\_id=247 (visited 12 May 2010).

Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, *Bunkers Convention in Force*, p. 29; Wu, Chao, p. 562.

limitation dependent on the State where the pollution damage occurs. Furthermore, the disparity and uncertainty of limitation ceilings makes it nearly impossible for the shipowner and his insurer to estimate various financial risks that may be encountered in different jurisdictions.<sup>243</sup>

## 4.3.2 No priority for responder immunity

Responder immunity was another issue that involved protracted debates on a number of occasions within the Legal Committee. "Responder immunity" is a generally used expression to describe a guaranteed protection from suit for salvors and clean-up contractors. The responder immunity clauses are traditionally included in international pollution liability Conventions as their crucial importance can impossibly be exaggerated. Responder immunity clauses provide an enormous incentive to salvors and other persons, who take measures to prevent or reduce damage, to duly perform their services without threat of being held liable for their actions. 244 The necessity of such encouragement is obvious considering the nature of the operations in question. Firstly, among all the persons that might have the possibility to prevent, minimize or respond to the damage, those who perform such operations professionally in their day-to-day work, namely, salvors and clean-up contractors, are in the best position to take the necessary actions required by the circumstances. Secondly, it should be remembered that both salvors and clean-up contractors perform their work purely on contractual basis and they have neither legal nor moral duty to act unless they expressly agree to do so. Reasonably, the main incentive for performance of their dangerous services is a prospect of being paid. Equally reasonable, a prospect of being held liable for their actions serves as a considerable disincentive. Unfortunately, this dilemma would be faced each time the bunkers pollution occurs, as the Bunkers Convention does not provide for responder immunity.

The issue of responder immunity involved lengthy debates during the drafting of the Bunkers Convention. A joint submission of group of NGOs, including inter alia ITOPF and CMI, urged for the insertion in the Convention of a provision, which would ensure the legal protection of persons taking measures to prevent or minimise damage caused by bunker oil spill. It was emphasized that such "responder immunity" would encourage prompt and effective response. <sup>245</sup> The International Group of P&I Clubs as well manifested its support of inclusion of responder immunity. The Group emphasized that those persons who might be able to undertake preventive measures or make a considerable contribution in response to bunker oil spill should be motivated to perform those tasks. Where no such immunity exists, those persons, particularly salvors, would be dissuaded to

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 562.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 560.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm</a> (visited 11 May 2010).

act under the prospect of being held liable. 246 The parallel was also drawn to the 1969 CLC under which immunity from suit for anyone who undertakes preventive measures is guaranteed except for cases where the damage is a result of a wilful misconduct or personal act or omission. 247

Additionally, the 1992 CLC and the HNS Convention may be considered in this regard. Due to the Conventions' channelling provision, ships' operators, managers and bareboat charterers enjoy protection from suit for pollution damage. 248 In addition, such immunity is also prescribed for salvors and clean-up contractors as well as persons taking preventive measures.<sup>249</sup> Although, early drafts of the Bunkers Convention contained the responder immunity provision copied from the 1992 CLC, at the end of the day the proposition to provide for such immunity in the Convention was rejected. It was proclaimed that the inclusion of such provision would be unjustified due to the absence of the second layer of compensation. <sup>250</sup>

As proposal to expressly provide for "responder immunity" was rejected, a compromise solution was put forward by a number of States. This led to the Bunkers Convention being accompanied by the Resolution, which encouraged States parties, when implementing the Convention, to consider the need to introduce in their national legislations provisions for the protection of persons responding to an incident and taking measures to prevent or minimise the effects of oil pollution. <sup>251</sup> The effect of the Resolution may however be questioned as the States, although encouraged to take appropriate actions, are free to decide whether the protection for salvors and other respondents should be arranged on the national level or not. 252

Thus, the decision to exclude the responder immunity provisions has gravely undermined the commonly recognised principle that salvors and other pollution responders should be encouraged to perform their duties without threat of civil claims or criminal prosecutions. <sup>253</sup> Although not related to the bunker spill, the incident of *Tasman Spirit* that occurred in Pakistan in 2003 is highly illustrative on the issue. As at that time Pakistan was not Party to the 1992 CLC, it enabled the Pakistani authorities to arrest the tugs that performed the salvage operations. The arrest in question is stated to be "part of a mechanism to put pressure on insurers to provide large financial guarantees". <sup>254</sup> Taking into consideration that quite similar situation may occur in case of bunkers pollution, it may happen that in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> LEG/CONF.12/9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> The 1992 CLC, Art. 3.4(a-c); the HNS Convention, Art. 7.5(a-c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> The 1992 CLC, Art. 3.4(d) and (e); the HNS Convention, Art. 7.5(d) and (e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 140.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-</a> convention.htm (visited 11 May 2010).

252 Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-</a>

convention.htm (visited 11 May 2010).
<sup>253</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 140.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 140.

certain cases salvors and other clean-up responders will be reluctant to provide their services, which in turn may entail grave consequences. Time however will show whether the exclusion of the responder immunity provisions is a serious mistake or not.

In this context it is relevant to mention Article 2.1(f) of the LLMC as well. Under this provision the right of limitation is rendered only to "claims of a person other than the person liable", which clearly prohibits the shipowner to submit his response cost claim for payment from the established limitation fund. This means that the shipowner will not enjoy the right of limitation notwithstanding the fact that he would usually be one of the first to respond in one way or another when the incident occurs.<sup>255</sup>

Totally different approach on the issue was adopted by both the CLCs and the HNS Convention, which stipulate that the costs incurred by the shipowner in preventing or minimizing damage can be ranked as other admissible claims against the shipowner's own limitation fund. 256 Such protection is deemed to be necessary as it gives shipowner a strong incentive to respond promptly once the incident occurs. Unfortunately, neither the Bunkers Convention nor any international limitation regime contains any similar provision, which may in certain circumstances turn out to be a huge disincentive for the shipowners to take response actions.<sup>257</sup>

# 4.3.3 The certification system – how advantageous it is?

The significance of compulsory insurance for bunker oil spills cannot be doubted. According to the calculations presented at the 74<sup>th</sup> session of the IMO, ships representing approximately 5-10% of the world tonnage were estimated to be uninsured or underinsured. Roughly calculated, these ships could be carrying on board 90,000-180,000 tonnes of bunkers oil at any given time. It was also pointed out that even when P&I insurance is in place for a ship, such would not necessarily cover the liability for bunkers pollution. 258

Compulsory liability insurance and certificates carried onboard the vessels constitute potential advantage to the coastal States as they can be confident that cover is available for bunker spills. Nevertheless, there are certain inconveniences of administrative nature created by this insurance system as issuing insurance certificates to quite a large number of vessels places an enormous burden on authorities occupied with the task. The extent of this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 563

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> The CLCs, Art. 5.8; the HNS Convention, Art. 9.8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 563.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> LEG 75/5/1.

administrative burden and the cost involved have however not been calculated during the preparations.<sup>259</sup>

### 4.3.3.1 Administrative burden corollary to the requirement of insurance certificates

Before the introduction of the 1969 CLC compulsory insurance requirement for maritime liabilities was almost unheard of in international Conventions. Since that, compulsory insurance has become an inevitable and rather selfevident element of various instruments concerned with maritime liability. The inclusion of requirement of compulsory insurance into the Bunkers Convention per se did not involve any notable objections or protests during preparatory work. Instead, concerns were expressed as to the administrative burden that would be created by the proposed insurance system and particularly by the issuance of the certificates. <sup>260</sup> It has been rightly pointed out that arrangements of compulsory insurance would be administratively burdensome per se, in addition the burden would be intensified by the requirement to certify that such insurance or other financial security is in place.<sup>261</sup>

However, in the end of the discussions the current insurance and certificate system, which is largely modelled on that of the 1992 CLC, was agreed upon. The 1992 CLC imposes compulsory insurance and certificate obligation only on ships carrying more than 2,000 tonnes of oil in bulk as cargo. Therefore, the system adopted in the 1992 CLC has not given rise to any major capacity problems, as in that case administrative burden has been quite insignificant since the obligation was imposed only on some 4,000 oil tankers. 262

The degree of difficulty in implementation of the certification provisions in practice is significantly increased in case of the Bunkers Convention. While the 1992 CLC requires certificates only for a few thousand oil tankers, the Bunkers Convention requires production of the bunkers certificates for the world's entire merchant fleet. 263 Therefore, certain provisions were designed to avoid unnecessarily great administrative burden under the Bunkers Convention. Thus, ships with gross tonnage of less than 1,000 were exempt from the insurance requirement under the bunkers Convention, and accordingly, no certificates have to be issued for such ships. Neither are bunkers certificates required for the ships operating exclusively within the territory of a State party, provided that the notification of such exemption was given to the Secretary-General of IMO by the State party in question.<sup>264</sup>

<sup>261</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, p.12; LEG/77/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Griggs, Patrick, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-</a> convention.htm (visited 11 May 2010). <sup>260</sup> LEG/77/11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 566.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.15.

Still, even with these exemptions from the insurance and certificates requirement, it was estimated that the bunkers certificates would have to be issued for some 40,000 ships. <sup>265</sup>

#### 4.3.3.2 Issuing certificates – a bureaucratic problem?

Another drawback of the adopted insurance and certificate regime is said to be a lot of bureaucracy it involves. Although such criticism originally was aimed at the 1992 CLC regime, the arguments are obviously relevant as far as the Bunkers Convention is concerned, as procedures involved are quite the same under both Conventions. Thus, both Conventions require the insurance certificates to be carried on board of each ship to which the Conventions are applicable. In order to be valid, the certificates have to be duly renewed on regular basis. The issuance and renewal of each certificate involves the P&I Club, which issues a Blue Card, and the relevant State authorities that are concerned with issuance or authorisation of the certificates and inspection of the insurer. In addition, one should not neglect a frequent logistics problem in getting the certificate on board the ship in due time. <sup>266</sup>

In practice, the bureaucracy of the insurance and certification regime is said to be proved by the fact that in most of the cases the ships that have been detained for lack of the CLC certificates actually had a valid insurance cover, but not the relevant documentation. <sup>267</sup> Therefore, probably in order to reduce the administrative burden, as well as to combat the bureaucracy problem, relevant provisions under the Bunkers Convention were somewhat modified.

It is obvious that provisions allowing delegation of the issuance of certificates were aimed at dispensing involvement of the governments in the issue. <sup>268</sup> According to Article 7.3(a) of the Bunkers Convention, a State party may authorise an organisation or an institution to issue bunkers certificates. Although such possibility may be more practical solution, still, it does not reduce the administrative burden, but merely shifts the burden on those authorised institutions. <sup>269</sup>

#### 4.3.3.3 Certificates for ships registered in States nonparties

Already pending entry into force of the Bunkers Convention, a number of issues have been highlighted regarding implementation of the Convention,

http://folk.uio.no/erikro/WWW/corrgr/insurance/simply.pdf (visited 12 May 2010). <sup>267</sup> Røsæg, Erik, p. 13, available at:

http://folk.uio.no/erikro/WWW/corrgr/insurance/simply.pdf (visited 12 May 2010). Røsæg, Erik, p. 13, available at:

http://folk.uio.no/erikro/WWW/corrgr/insurance/simply.pdf (visited 12 May 2010). <sup>269</sup> Wu, Chao, p. 566.

56

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, p. 32f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Røsæg, Erik, p. 12f, available at:

particularly in regard of certification uncertainties as regards ships registered in States non-parties. These issues were raised by the P&I Clubs in the IOPC Funds' meetings in March and June 2008, but since such meetings were stated to be the wrong forum for discussion of such matters, the mentioned issues were first considered at the 94<sup>th</sup> session of the Legal Committee in September 2008.<sup>270</sup>

In accordance with Article 7.2 of the Convention a ship registered in a State party to the Bunkers Convention, must obtain a bunker certificate from the appropriate authority of that State. In case the ship is registered in a State non-party to the Convention but is intended to trade with a State party, such ship is required to obtain bunkers certificate from any State party. However, until August 2008 (which is approximately three months before the entry into force of the Convention), no State party was prepared or able to accept the burden of issuance of certificates to ships registered in States non-parties, unless such ship was aimed to enter a port or a terminal in the State in question. 272

Therefore, concerns were expressed that in respect of the ships flying the flags of States non-parties, the entry into force of the Convention would involve serious problems that would require an immediate solution. Although, subsequently, some States parties agreed to issue bunkers certificates to ships of States non-parties, still there was a sufficient risk that such a short period of time before entry into force of the Convention would not be sufficient to provide bunkers certificates to all the vessels for which the certificates would be required. Moreover, the same problem of time pressure would be faced again after the Convention comes into force since the issued certificates would be valid only to the end of the current P&I policy year on 20 February 2009 and, thus, would need to be replaced with new certificates in three months time. <sup>273</sup>

#### 4.3.3.4 Offshore units – additional burden

While various offshore units such as offshore rigs and FPSOs are encompassed within the term "any seagoing vessel and seaborne craft, of any type whatsoever" and, accordingly, are required to maintain bunkers Blue Cards, they are expressly excluded from the right to limitation under the LLMC's Article 15.5. Thus, unfortunately, offshore units fall through the gaps created by the inconsistency of these two Conventions. In theory, issuing bunkers Blue Cards for such offshore units, the P&I Clubs would in such a way certify that the insurance is available for unlimited liability. It is evident that this anomaly was created unintentionally and thus let it be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> LEG/94/11/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> LEG/94/11/2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> LEG/94/11/2.

applicable in practice would be highly impropriate, especially considering that the reinsurance of the P&I Clubs is limited. 274

The problem of inability of the P&I Clubs to limit liability for offshore units seems to have been disregarded during the preparations to the Bunkers Convention as no wordings can be found that intended to clarify the issue.<sup>275</sup> Even after the adoption of the Convention the issue regarding ability of the insurers to establish liability limits for offshore units was not addressed until a short time before the Convention came into force. The reason why the problem was not addressed earlier was explained to be the specific nature of the coverage, as there are only the Gard Club and the Standard Club that insure MOUs to any extent.<sup>276</sup>

Although the existence of the problem was acknowledged, no action was taken by the international maritime community aimed to provide a uniform solution. It seems that those affected by the issue were left to handle the situation by their own means and thus, not surprisingly, the insurance providers have chosen quite different ways to combat the problem.<sup>277</sup> For example, the Gard Club has chosen to set up a special division to provide the required bunkers Blue Cards for the offshore units for which their owners pay a premium. This solution has however proved to be disproportionately cost-demanding for the members in relation to insignificant additional risk for the insurer. <sup>278</sup> The Standard Club has chosen to issue bunkers Blue Cards for offshore units by creation of a specific wording in the insurance policy. The wording refers to the liability limit calculated by applying the limitation amounts prescribed in the 1996 LLMC to the gross tonnage of the unit. <sup>279</sup> The Standard Club has further established tight cooperation with various jurisdictions in order to ensure that such construction is accepted internationally. <sup>280</sup> The Standard Club's bunkers Blue Cards issued with such reference have been accepted by all the States parties where offshore units entered with the Club are registered, among which the UK, Liberia and the Bahamas. 281

#### 4.3.3.5 Achievement of certification regime

Although quite a short time has passed since the Bunkers Convention came into force, theoretical solutions have been provided for the most of the problems or uncertainties created by the certification provisions of the

club.com/docs/14809 SB MAR 09 disclaimer.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

58

<sup>274</sup> Standard Bulletin, available at: <a href="http://www.standard-">http://www.standard-</a> club.com/docs/14809\_SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> LLOYD'S LIST, Solutions Found for Mobile Offshore Unit Bunker Loophole.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> LLOYD'S LIST, Solutions Found for Mobile Offshore Unit Bunker Loophole.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> LLOYD'S LIST, Solutions Found for Mobile Offshore Unit Bunker Loophole.

<sup>278</sup> Standard Bulletin, available at: http://www.standard-

club.com/docs/14809 SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

279 Standard Bulletin, available at: http://www.standardclub.com/docs/14809 SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

280 LLOYD'S LIST, Solutions Found for Mobile Offshore Unit Bunker Loophole.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> Standard Bulletin, available at: <a href="http://www.standard-">http://www.standard-</a>

Convention. However, it should be remembered that considerable load of paperwork required for the proper functioning of the system will have to be repeated annually in order to renew the certificates. Therefore, in order to somewhat decrease the administrative burden, the Convention only requires the issuing authorities to ensure that the presented cover is in conformity with the Bunkers Convention. At the same time the Convention only sets forth certain requirements as to the form and some basic content of the certificates, while such important matters as conditions for issuing of the certificates and their validity are delegated to the States parties. <sup>283</sup>

When issuing bunkers certificates the authorities are only obliged to ascertain that the financial security presented corresponds with the monetary amount required by the Bunkers Convention while there is no requirement to validate the financial standing of the security provider. According to Article 7.8, the issuing State will normally rely on information as regards financial guarantors obtained from other States or relevant organisations as the Bunkers Convention does not oblige any State to provide assistance in obtaining such information and ensuring its accuracy. However, by the virtue of the same Article the State relying on such information will not be relieved from its responsibilities as an issuing State. Thus, a State that has issued a bunkers certificate in accordance with information provided by another State may still be held responsible in case it turns out that the financial guarantor in question is not capable to meet his obligations under the Convention. <sup>284</sup> In accordance with Article 7.9 a State party may at any time request consultation with the issuing or certifying State should it believe that the security provider named in certificate is not financially capable to meet the obligations imposed by the Convention. This provision may however be of little assistance in cases where the insurance company named in the certificate is not located in the issuing or certifying State. <sup>285</sup>

As it have been rightly pointed out, in order to ensure that the certificates effectively fulfil their purpose (as well as the purpose of the whole Convention), the financial standing of the insurance provider and his ability to meet the compensation claims will undoubtedly be decisive. The Convention however does not prescribe the criteria in order to determine the financial viability of the security provider, neither does it impose an obligation on the issuing authorities to verify the information on his financial standing. <sup>286</sup> Perhaps, this may also be seen as an attempt not to increase already significant administrative burden of issuing the certificates to the whole world's fleet. Seeing from the other angle, one may question

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> De la Rue, Colin, *Bunker spill risk*, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Bunker Oil Pollution – a New Liability Convention, (Editorial), 14(5) JIML 2008, p. 376.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Zhu, Ling, Can the Bunkers Convention Ensure Adequate Compensation for Pollution *Victims?*, p. 209f.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Zhu, Ling, Can the Bunkers Convention Ensure Adequate Compensation for Pollution *Victims?*, p. 209.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> Bunker Oil Pollution – a New Liability Convention, p. 376; Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 142.

the effectiveness of the formally "valid" certificate based on the false information provided by the guarantor.

In addition, the States are obliged to accept the certificates issued under the authority of other States parties, even when the insurer is completely unknown and is not a member of one of the reputable P&I Clubs. 287 The undercapitalised insurers who enter the market and attach themselves to "flag of convenience States", which have little or no administrative control, have always imposed a threat to maritime community. Although the vast maiority of the world's merchant fleet is insured by the P&I Clubs, members of the International Group, which is per se a reliable guarantee for the States, still, it remains to be seen whether other insurers will be able to meet the insurance requirements once bunkers pollution incident occurs. <sup>288</sup>

It was stated that threat of intense administrative burden was only a minor drawback compared with the advantages the system of insurance certificates would mean to the State parties, once an incident occurs in their port area. <sup>289</sup>However, in conjunction with abovementioned provisions of the Bunkers Convention the purpose of the certificates may be highly questioned. Moreover, it can be said that in the context of the whole insurance and certification system, the achievement made by the compulsory insurance requirement is quite modest in proportion to the very cumbersome burden it involves.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> The Bunkers Convention, Art. 7.9; Bunker Oil Pollution – a New Liability Convention, p. 376; Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 142.

Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, p. 143.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup> Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage,

# 5 Conclusions

The Bunkers Convention was adopted after being on the work programme of the IMO for more than thirty years. It took seven years more after its adoption for the Convention to enter into force. Although the Bunkers Convention has been in force quite a short time, yet already 51 States representing more than 84% of the world's tonnage are parties to the Convention. Such a wide adherence per se indicates than the Bunkers Convention should be regarded as successful international regime. However, likewise with any other international instrument the adoption of the Bunkers Convention is a result of several compromises. A number of vital elements of the Convention were not agreed upon until the final Conference. Moreover, due to strong time pressure several proposed amendments to the Convention had to be withdrawn, though otherwise they could have clarified certain problematic areas of the Bunkers Convention. Therefore, it is not surprising that there are several apparent weaknesses of the Convention.

Although during the drafting process it was stated that so far the bunkers pollution has been successfully dealt with under the national laws, it should be acknowledged that, on balance, a unified regime is undoubtedly preferable. On the other hand, as have been presented in this thesis, several impractical and less successful provisions dilute the efficacy of the whole Convention. Since there was no pressing need for the immediate adoption of the Bunkers Convention, its problematic elements could have been further evaluated and, perhaps, replaced by more thoroughly drafted provisions.

The stated goal of the Convention, namely, to provide adequate protection to the pollution victims, is achieved to certain extent. As the Bunkers Convention is largely modelled on the CLC regime, the attempts were made to provide as extensive protection to the victims as possible. However, comparing with the 1992 CLC, the position of the bunkers pollution victims is considerably undermined due to several factors, the major one being absence of any supplementary compensation tier. The drafters tried to neutralise this major drawback by adoption of other provisions, which were aimed at establishing workable alternatives. Thus, the registered shipowner, who constitutes a key source of compensation, is obliged to maintain a compulsory insurance in order to ensure that the funds are available once the pollution incident occurs. Conversely, imposition of the requirement of compulsory insurance will not constitute an unconditional guarantee that the pollution victims will receive an adequate compensation. Many aspects of the compulsory insurance requirements are not mentioned under the Bunkers Convention. Apart from certain basic information as to the content of the certificates, no provisions were drafted to clarify how the financial capability of the guarantors should be evaluated and by whom. Thus, apart from certain defences available to the shipowner or his insurer that may

discharge them from indemnity obligation, the possibility of insolvency of the financial guarantor may not be neglected either.

Enlarging the definition of the shipowner to embraces other persons is ineffective attempt of the drafters to provide additional source of compensation, "a second tier". As neither of these other defendants is required to cover their liability by the insurance, they may doubtfully be regarded as a reliable source of compensation. Even in the cases where the insurance is obtained on voluntarily basis, the other defendants' involvement may be relevant only in some limited scenarios. Thus, such contribution may be valuable when the registered shipowner or his insurer becomes insolvent, or when there is a wilful misconduct on the part of one of the liable persons, provided that all the defendants are not co-insured by the same underwriter. Still, in the vast majority of cases, where the shipowner would be entitled to limit the liability, his insurance would probably suffice, as there would be an aggregate limitation fund for all defendants encompassed by the definition of the shipowner. Thus, as it would be impossible to require payment up to the calculated limit from each of the defendants, their insurance would be superfluous.

While the advantage of several defendants approach is quite minor, there are certain apparent difficulties that may be encountered in settling claims brought against several defendants simultaneously, which may result in protracted proceedings. As a result, such complications will be in total contradiction with the aim of prompt compensation strived to be achieved by the Convention. In this context, it should be mentioned that the rationale behind the insertion of the provisions on strict liability was claimed to be the prospects of prompt compensation due to the avoidance of protracted proceedings. Indeed, the lengthy proceedings that could have been involved in proving the fault on the part of the shipowner may successfully be avoided. However, there is no guarantee that in case the action will be brought against several defendants the liability will be smoothly apportioned between them and their insurers without involvement of protracted dispute settlement in the matter. Thus, it can be said that the possible advantage that can be derived from providing several sources of compensation may be partly or wholly neutralised by the threat of protracted proceedings on the apportionment of liability it may involve.

Perhaps, in the absence of any supplementary fund the adopted approach of several defendants theoretically responds with the aim of the Bunkers Convention. Adopting channelling provisions to one single source of compensation, the registered shipowner, would be too risky considering the possibility of him become insolvent, and thus, further reassurance of satisfactory payment was considered as highly advantageous. Though, being attractive in theory by eliminating the risk of non-payment, this solution produces some apparent practical problems. Overall, its contribution in the quest of adequate compensation is quite modest comparing with the confusion it may involve.

The compromise alternative proposed by the International Group of P&I Clubs (see chapter 3.4.1) could have been a well-balanced practical solution to the apparent dilemma of sufficient compensation against quick settlement of claims. Making only one person liable in the first instance would simplify the liability and compensation regime, which in turn would considerably speed up and reduce litigations as well as accelerate payment of compensation. Unfortunately, this suggestion has been totally disregarded due to the time constraints.

The significance of the Bunkers Convention is frequently emphasised by mentioning that the adopted regime ensures that common liability and compensation standards apply in all the States parties to the Convention. Undeniably, several elements of the Convention contribute to simplifying the process of claiming the compensation. The right of direct action as well as the clarifications on the liabilities of shipowner undoubtedly play a vital role in this regard. Unfortunately, the elements concerned with sufficient compensation itself, such as compulsory insurance and limitation of liability, will be governed by different instruments applicable in the States parties. Thus, due to the lack of common standards on these issues, the different amounts of compensation will be available to the victims who suffer from comparatively same bunkers pollution damage, which in turn significantly disrupt the uniformity aimed to be provided by the Convention.

Although some apparent shortcomings of the chosen limitation system were highlighted already during the drafting process, the statement made in the preamble indicates that the Bunkers Convention was created under the strong persuasion that the traditional combination of strict liability and the right to limitation constitute the only acceptable means for dealing with the bunkers pollution. Therefore, the conclusion may be drawn that the drafters of the Convention assumed that the liability for oil pollution damage under the Bunkers Convention should be coupled with the right to limitation. However, the mere assumption or intention does not constitute sufficient means for legally binding right to limitation of liability. As a result, the established system of limitation of liability under the Bunkers Convention is said to be the major loophole created by the Convention.

Comparing with the 1992 CLC, the limitation amounts available under both the LLMCs will be considerably low. Although provided data on the bunkers pollution claims indicate that only in some limited cases the limitation amount available under the 1996 LLMC may be exceeded, one should remember that this regime is applicable only in 37 States parties. In cases where other limitation systems will be applicable, the risk of the available compensation to be exceeded is much more significant. Hopefully, the liability limits provided by various limitation regimes will suffice in the majority of bunker spill incidents. Nevertheless, provided compensation limits may turn out to be insufficient when a large-scale incident occurs. Moreover, victims of bunkers pollution will have competing claims with other property claimants from the same incident. As the 1992 CLC provides its own limits of liability it was possible to increase the prescribed amount

several times in order to insure the adequate compensation. In case the available compensation payable in accordance with the Bunkers Convention turns out to be insufficient, it would be much more difficult to pass the necessary amendments in the same way.

In addition, the linkage to other limitation regimes may constitute considerable problems due to the inconsistency of two regimes involved. As have been illustrated, in case of the LLMCs some definitional non-correspondence with the Bunkers Convention may result in liability being unlimited for most common categories of pollution damage. The shipowner may limit his liability for property damage claims and consequential loss thereof. This category may embrace claims for the costs of replacing a damaged ship, as well as claims for financial loss as a consequence of the ship being unavailable for operation. Still, the vast majority of claims for pollution damage are those either for pure economic loss or for environmental reinstatement. Although the shipowner will be held liable for those claims under the Bunkers Convention, his liability may not be limitable under the LLMCs. Moreover, the liability would be unlimited for various offshore units as such fall outside the scope of the LLMCs, although being encompassed by the Bunkers Convention.

The mere acknowledgement by the drafters that these loopholes were created unintentionally does not provide any workable alternatives and thus, some considerable problems may be encountered once the Bunker Convention would be applicable. The phrase "pollution damage" will be subject to decisions of national courts and its interpretation may result in contradictory outcomes. The dilemma of offshore units is not limited only to definitional incompatibility, as it likewise involves the issue of compulsory insurance and certification. Thus, according to the Bunkers Convention such offshore units are required to maintain insurance certificates, which, issued in accordance with recommended limitation regime, the 1996 LLMC, would guarantee the compensation for unlimited liability. Still, although this anomaly was pointed out, no action was taken by the maritime community to provide a uniform solution. As a result, the P&I Clubs had to figure out workable alternatives on their own, which to some extent disrupt the uniformity intended to be provided by the Convention.

The avoidance of overlaps with other international regimes was given high priority by the drafters of the Bunkers Convention and, indeed, on this point the Convention may be regarded as successful. However, several loopholes were created due to inconsistency of the Bunkers Convention with other international Conventions that may be applicable in case of bunkers pollution. Perhaps, as concerns inconsistency with the CLCs the problem may be regarded as minor as such would arise only in certain limited circumstances (*see chapter 4.2.1*). In case of the LLMCs, the problem of inconsistency, and particularly the issue of "pollution damage", will arise each time the LLMCs will be applicable. Although, on the one hand, it is clear that adoption of a separate limitation regime under the Bunkers Convention would have created an unnecessary overlap with the existing

LLMCs, resulting in two competing mechanisms applicable to the same pollution incident. On the other hand, one may consider whether the adopted alternative, which have created several legal gaps, provide much better solution.

The lack of "responder immunity" provisions is another significant drawback of the Convention. The Bunkers Convention does not forbid the action to be brought against the salvors and other pollution responders independently of the Convention. Therefore, there might be a certain risk that those who are in the best position to minimize the impact of pollution will be reluctant to take any actions considering the risk of being punished if their attempts end up being unsuccessful. Since there is no second layer of compensation the absence of responder immunity provisions was deemed as justifiable as such would widen the scope of potential claim targets for the bunkers pollution victims. However, even if the drafters of the Convention may consider such construction to be a righteous tactic to enforce, it is highly doubtful whether the salvors and other pollution responders share that opinion and will be willing to run the risk of being sued for the benefit of pollution victims.

Probably bunkers pollution claimants will in the first case seek the compensation from the shipowner and thus, one may argue that there is only a minor risk for salvors to be sued. Indeed, the prospect of being held liable may not be a decisive element for pollution responders in all cases of bunkers pollution. For instance, where the risk of bunker spill damage is not grave, the absence of responder immunity provisions most likely will not preclude salvors from acting. However, in other circumstances, where serious bunkers pollution damage is rather an inevitable fact, unprotected position of the salvors and other pollution respondents may be a cornerstone in decision-making in question of taking actions. Thus, bearing in mind the possibility of being "a secondary compensation source" for the liability amounting to huge sums of money, the salvors and other pollution respondents perhaps will not be so eager to render their services in certain cases.

Deeming from the recordings of the final Conference, and particularly from the opening statement of the Secretary-General, the delegates have felt certain press upon themselves to reach an agreement on the Bunkers Convention. On the other hand, there was no such pressing need in the maritime world for the establishment of the international regime for bunkers pollution liability. Although several elements of the Convention were recognised as problematic, the suggestions to amend or clarify certain provisions were disregarded due to the "lack of time". Two resolutions adopted by the Conference were aimed at prompting the States to overcome some of these problematic areas on the national level. Thus, the limitation of liability resolution urged the States to ratify the 1976 LLMC, as amended, in order to ensure that common limitation rules are applicable to bunkers pollution claims. The resolution concerned with "responder immunity" prompted the States to enact under their national laws necessary provisions

in order to provide protection for salvors and other pollution responders. However, urging the States parties to fill the created loopholes on the individual basis, the drafters seem to abandon such a distinguishing feature of any international instrument as uniformity, which would be disrupted by such national enactments.

Thus, as have been presented, there are several strong arguments, which undermine the usefulness of the Bunkers Convention as an international instrument. The compensation available to the pollution victims will vary in each case and, thus, the efficacy of the Convention in relation to the aim pursued will largely depend on the sufficiency of limitation amount available. Therefore, it is doubtful whether the Bunkers Convention, which in order to be effective depends on the States' wide adherence to the 1996 LLMC, may be regarded as successful international instrument.

# **Bibliography**

#### Literature

Agyebeng, Kissi, Disappearing Acts – Toward a Global Civil Liability Regime for Pollution Damage Resulting from Offshore Oil and Gas Exploration, Cornell Law School LL.M. Papers Series, Paper 11, Cornell Law School, 2006.

Ansell, D.V., et al. (ITOPF), A Review of the Problems Posed by Spill of Heavy Fuel Oils, Paper presented at: 2001 International Oil Spill Conference, March 26-29 2001, Tampa, Florida, available at: <a href="http://www.itopf.com/\_assets/documents/iosc2001.pdf">http://www.itopf.com/\_assets/documents/iosc2001.pdf</a> (visited 17 May 2010).

Bunker Oil Pollution – a New Liability Convention, (Editorial), 14(5) JIML 2008.

Chen, Xia, Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims: a Study of U.S. Law, Chinese Law, and International Conventions, The Hague: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2001.

Clarke, Malcolm A., *The Law of Insurance Contracts*, 4th ed., London: LLP, 2002.

De la Rue, Colin M. & Anderson, Charles B., *Shipping and the Environment: Law and Practice*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., London: Informa, 2009.

De la Rue, Colin M., *Bunker spill risk*, 22(10) Maritime Risk International, Dec 2008/Jan 2009.

De la Rue, Colin M., *Current Legal Issues Relating to Pollution Claims*, Lloyd's List Events, Oil Pollution 2002, London, 2002, pp. 1-14.

Gaskell, Nicholas & Forrest, Craig, Marine Pollution Damage in Australia: Implementing the Bunker Oil Convention 2001 and the Supplementary Fund Protocol 2003, 27(2) U. Queensland L. J., 2008, pp. 103-165.

Gavouneli, Maria, *Pollution from Offshore Installations*, London: Graham & Trotman, 1995.

Gold, Edgar, Chircop, Aldo E. & Kindred, Hugh, M., *Maritime Law*, Toronto: Irwin Law, 2003.

Griggs, Patrick, Williams, Richard & Farr, Jeremy, *Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims*, 4<sup>th</sup> ed., London: LLP, 2005.

Griggs, Patrick, *International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage*, 2001, British Maritime Law Association, 2001, available at: <a href="http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm">http://www.bmla.org.uk/documents/imo-bunker-convention.htm</a> (visited 11 May 2010).

Hazelwood, Steven J., *P&I Clubs: Law and Practice*, 3rd ed., London: Lloyd's of London Press, 2000.

Hill, Christopher, *Maritime Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> ed., London: LLP, 2003. <a href="http://www.comitemaritime.org/future/pdf/misconduct\_a\_id.pdf">http://www.comitemaritime.org/future/pdf/misconduct\_a\_id.pdf</a> (visited 13 May 2010).

Jacobsson, Måns, Bunkers Convention in Force, 15 JIML, 2009.

Jacobsson, Måns, *The International Liability and Compensation Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships - International Solutions for a Global Problem*, 32(1) Tul. Mar. L. J., 2007-2008, pp. 1-33.

Jacobsson, Måns, *The International Oil Pollution Compensation Funds and the International Regime of Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage*, in: Basedow, Jürgen & Magnus, Ulrich (eds.), Pollution of the Sea – Prevention and Compensation, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2007.

LLOYD'S LIST, Solutions Found for Mobile Offshore Unit Bunker Loophole, 1 September 2009.

Özçayir, Oya, *Liability for Oil Pollution and Collisions*, London: LLP, 1998.

Røsæg, Erik, *Compulsory Maritime Insurance*, Scandinavian Institute of Maritime Law Yearbook 2000, MarIus No 258, Oslo: Nordisk Institutt for Sjørett, available at:

http://folk.uio.no/erikro/WWW/corrgr/insurance/simply.pdf (visited 12 May 2010).

Tsimplis, Michael N., *Marine Pollution from Shipping Activities*, 14 JIML, 2008.

Tsimplis, Michael N., *The Bunker Pollution Convention 2001: Completing and Harmonizing the Liability Regime for Oil Pollution from Ships?*, Lloyd's Mar. & Com. L.Q., 2005, pp. 83-100.

Wilhelmsen, Trine-Lise, *Issues of Marine Insurance: Misconduct of the Assured and Identification*, 2002, available at: <a href="http://www.comitemaritime.org/future/pdf/misconduct\_a\_id.pdf">http://www.comitemaritime.org/future/pdf/misconduct\_a\_id.pdf</a> (visited 13 May 2010).

Willingale, Malcolm, Ship Management, 3rd ed., London: LLP, 1998.

Wu, Chao, *Liability and Compensation for Bunker Pollution*, 33 J. Mar. L. & Com., 2002.

Zhu, Ling, Can the Bunkers Convention Ensure Adequate Compensation for Pollution Victims?, 40 J. Mar. L. & Com., 2009, pp. 203-219.

Zhu, Ling, Compulsory Insurance and Compensation for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2007.

#### **Documents**

#### **IMO** documents

**IMO LEG 73/12** 

IMO LEG 73/12/1

**IMO LEG 74/2** 

**IMO LEG 74/4** 

IMO LEG 74/4/1

IMO LEG 74/4/2

IMO LEG 74/4/4

IMO LEG 75/5/1

IMO LEG 77/11

IMO LEG 78/5/2

IMO LEG 80/4/1

IMO LEG 82/3/3

IMO LEG 94/11/2

IMO LEG 96/6/2

IMO LEG/CONF.12/9

IMO LEG/CONF.12/RD/1

IMO MEPC 36/21/6

#### **CMI documents**

CMI Documentation, 1968-III

#### Websites

#### IMO

http://www.imo.org/Conventions/mainframe.asp?topic\_id=247 Status of the Conventions as at 30<sup>th</sup> of April 2010 (visited 12 May 2010).

http://www.imo.org/Conventions/contents.asp?topic\_id=256&doc\_id=666 A brief information on three resolutions related to the Bunkers Convention (visited 18 May 2010).

#### **ITOPF**

http://www.itopf.com/information-services/data-and-statistics/case-histories/CP2.html#TORREY Summary of Torrey Canyon Oil Spill (visited 11 May 2010).

http://www.itopf.com/spill-compensation/index.html Spill Compensation Regime Overview (visited 11 May 2010).

http://www.itopf.com/spill-compensation/clc-fund-convention Maximum amounts of compensation available under the CLC and Fund Conventions (visited 15 May 2010).

http://www.itopf.com/\_assets/documents/admissibilityofclaims.pdf Admissibility of Claims for Compensation for Environmental Damage Under the 1992 Civil Liability and Fund Conventions (visited 13 May 2010).

#### **International Monetary Fund**

http://www.imf.org/external/np/fin/data/param\_rms\_mth.aspx SDR Exchange Rate (visited 15 May 2010).

#### **UK P&I Club**

http://www.ukpandi.com/ukpandi/resource.nsf/Files/AMC1993/\$FILE/AMC1993.pdf Analysis of Major Claims 1993 (visited 12 May 2010).

#### The Standard P&I Club

http://www.standard-club.com/docs/14809\_SB\_MAR\_09\_disclaimer.pdf Standard Bulletin - Bunkers Certificates for Offshore Units, March 2009 (visited 12 May 2010).

#### GARD P&I Club

http://www.gard.no/ikbViewer/Content/63022/Special%20Circular%20MO U%20-%20Safeguard.pdf Special Circular - Entry into force of the Bunker Convention – Bunker Blue Cards for Mobile Offshore Units – the establishment of Safeguard Guarantee Company Ltd as security provider, November 2008 (visited 12 May 2010).

#### Conventions and legislation

Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims, 1976 (the 1976 LLMC)

International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, 1973, as modified by the Protocol of 1978 relating thereto (MARPOL 73/78)

International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1969 (the 1969 CLC; the 1969 Civil Liability Convention)

International Convention on Liability and Compensation for Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea, 1996 (the HNS Convention)

International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage, 1971 (the 1971 Fund)

International Convention Relating to Intervention on the High Seas in Cases of Oil Pollution Casualties, 1969 (the Intervention Convention)

International Convention relating to the Limitation of the Liability of Owners of Sea-Going Ships, 1957 (the 1957 Limitation Convention)

International Maritime Organization Protocol of 1992 to amend the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage of 18 December 1971 (the 1992 Fund Convention)

International Maritime Organization Protocol of 1992 to amend the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage of 29 November 1969 (the 1992 CLC; the 1992 Civil Liability Convention)

Merchant Shipping Act 1995

Protocol of 1996 to amend the Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims of 19 November 1976 (the 1996 LLMC)

Protocol of 2003 to the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage, 1992 (Supplementary Fund)

The Draft Convention on Offshore Units, Artificial Islands and Related Structures Used in the Exploration and Exploitation of Petroleum and Seabed Mineral Resources. Reprinted in CMI News Letter, January/April 2004, No. 1, available at:

http://www.comitemaritime.org/news/pdfiles/2004-1.pdf (visited 11 May 2010).

U.S. Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (OPA 90)

#### **Table of Cases**

Aegean Sea Traders Corp v Repsol Petroleo SA. (*The Aegean Sea*) [1998] 2 Lloyd's Rep. 39.

# **Appendix: Text of the Bunkers Convention**

## International Convention on Civil Liability for Bunker Oil Pollution Damage, 2001

The States Parties to this Convention,

Recalling article 194 of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, 1982, which provides that States shall take all measures necessary to prevent, reduce and control pollution of the marine environment, Recalling also article 235 of that Convention, which provides that, with the objective of assuring prompt and adequate compensation in respect of all damage caused by pollution of the marine environment, States shall cooperate in the further development of relevant rules of international law, Noting the success of the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1992 and the International Convention on the Establishment of an International Fund for Compensation for Oil Pollution Damage, 1992 in ensuring that compensation is available to persons who suffer damage caused by pollution resulting from the escape or discharge of oil carried in bulk at sea by ships,

**Noting also** the adoption of the International Convention on Liability and Compensation for Damage in Connection with the Carriage of Hazardous and Noxious Substances by Sea, 1996 in order to provide adequate, prompt and effective compensation for damage caused by incidents in connection with the carriage by sea of hazardous and noxious substances,

**Recognising** the importance of establishing strict liability for all forms of oil pollution which is linked to an appropriate limitation of the level of that liability,

**Considering** that complementary measures are necessary to ensure the payment of adequate, prompt and effective compensation for damage caused by pollution resulting from the escape or discharge of bunker oil from ships, **Desiring** to adopt uniform international rules and procedures for determining questions of liability and providing adequate compensation in such cases.

**Have agreed** as follows:

#### Article 1 **Definitions**

For the purposes of this Convention:

1 "Ship" means any seagoing vessel and seaborne craft, of any type whatsoever.

- 2 "Person" means any individual or partnership or any public or private body, whether corporate or not, including a State or any of its constituent subdivisions.
- 3 "Shipowner" means the owner, including the registered owner, bareboat charterer, manager and operator of the ship.
- 4 "Registered owner" means the person or persons registered as the owner of the ship or, in the absence of registration, the person or persons owning the ship. However, in the case of a ship owned by a State and operated by a company which in that State is registered as the ship's operator, "registered owner" shall mean such company.
- 5 "Bunker oil" means any hydrocarbon mineral oil, including lubricating oil, used or intended to be used for the operation or propulsion of the ship, and any residues of such oil.
- 6 "Civil Liability Convention" means the International Convention on Civil Liability for Oil Pollution Damage, 1992, as amended.
- 7 "Preventive measures" means any reasonable measures taken by any person after an incident has occurred to prevent or minimize pollution damage.
- 8 "Incident" means any occurrence or series of occurrences having the same origin, which causes pollution damage or creates a grave and imminent threat of causing such damage.
- 9 "Pollution damage" means:
- (a) loss or damage caused outside the ship by contamination resulting from the escape or discharge of bunker oil from the ship, wherever such escape or discharge may occur, provided that compensation for impairment of the environment other than loss of profit from such impairment shall be limited to costs of reasonable measures of reinstatement actually undertaken or to be undertaken; and
- (b) the costs of preventive measures and further loss or damage caused by preventive measures.
- 10 "State of the ship's registry" means, in relation to a registered ship, the State of registration of the ship and, in relation to an unregistered ship, the State whose flag the ship is entitled to fly.
- 11 "Gross tonnage" means gross tonnage calculated in accordance with the tonnage measurement regulations contained in Annex 1 of the International Convention on Tonnage Measurement of Ships, 1969.
- 12 "Organization" means the International Maritime Organization.
- 13 "Secretary-General" means the Secretary-General of the Organization.

### Article 2 **Scope of application**

This Convention shall apply exclusively:

(a) to pollution damage caused:

in the territory, including the territorial sea, of a State Party, and in the exclusive economic zone of a State Party, established in accordance with international law, or, if a State Party has not established such a zone, in an area beyond and adjacent to the territorial sea of that State determined by

that State in accordance with international law and extending not more than 200 nautical miles from the baselines from which the breadth of its territorial sea is measured;

(b) to preventive measures, wherever taken, to prevent or minimize such damage.

#### Article 3 **Liability of the shipowner**

- 1 Except as provided in paragraphs 3 and 4, the shipowner at the time of an incident shall be liable for pollution damage caused by any bunker oil on board or originating from the ship, provided that, if an incident consists of a series of occurrences having the same origin, the liability shall attach to the shipowner at the time of the first of such occurrences.
- 2 Where more than one person is liable in accordance with paragraph 1, their liability shall be joint and several.
- 3 No liability for pollution damage shall attach to the shipowner if the shipowner proves that:
- (a) the damage resulted from an act of war, hostilities, civil war, insurrection or a natural phenomenon of an exceptional, inevitable and irresistible character; or
- (b) the damage was wholly caused by an act or omission done with the intent to cause damage by a third party; or
- (c) the damage was wholly caused by the negligence or other wrongful act of any Government or other authority responsible for the maintenance of lights or other navigational aids in the exercise of that function.
- 4 If the shipowner proves that the pollution damage resulted wholly or partially either from an act or omission done with intent to cause damage by the person who suffered the damage or from the negligence of that person, the shipowner may be exonerated wholly or partially from liability to such person.
- 5 No claim for compensation for pollution damage shall be made against the shipowner otherwise than in accordance with this Convention.
- 6 Nothing in this Convention shall prejudice any right of recourse of the shipowner which exists independently of this Convention.

#### Article 4 **Exclusions**

- 1 This Convention shall not apply to pollution damage as defined in the Civil Liability Convention, whether or not compensation is payable in respect of it under that Convention.
- 2 Except as provided in paragraph 3, the provisions of this Convention shall not apply to warships, naval auxiliary or other ships owned or operated by a State and used, for the time being, only on Government non-commercial service.

3 A State Party may decide to apply this Convention to its warships or other ships described in paragraph 2, in which case it shall notify the Secretary-General thereof specifying the terms and conditions of such application. 4 With respect to ships owned by a State Party and used for commercial purposes, each State shall be subject to suit in the jurisdictions set forth in article 9 and shall waive all defences based on its status as a sovereign State.

### Article 5 **Incidents involving two or more ships**

When an incident involving two or more ships occurs and pollution damage results there from, the shipowners of all the ships concerned, unless exonerated under article 3, shall be jointly and severally liable for all such damage which is not reasonably separable.

### Article 6 Limitation of liability

Nothing in this Convention shall affect the right of the shipowner and the person or persons providing insurance or other financial security to limit liability under any applicable national or international regime, such as the Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims, 1976, as amended.

### Article 7 Compulsory insurance or financial security

- 1 The registered owner of a ship having a gross tonnage greater than 1000 registered in a State Party shall be required to maintain insurance or other financial security, such as the guarantee of a bank or similar financial institution, to cover the liability of the registered owner for pollution damage in an amount equal to the limits of liability under the applicable national or international limitation regime, but in all cases, not exceeding an amount calculated in accordance with the Convention on Limitation of Liability for Maritime Claims, 1976, as amended.
- 2 A certificate attesting that insurance or other financial security is in force in accordance with the provisions of this Convention shall be issued to each ship after the appropriate authority of a State Party has determined that the requirements of paragraph 1 have been complied with. With respect to a ship registered in a State Party such certificate shall be issued or certified by the appropriate authority of the State of the ship's registry; with respect to a ship not registered in a State Party it may be issued or certified by the appropriate authority of any State Party. This certificate shall be in the form of the model set out in the annex to this Convention and shall contain the following particulars:
- (a) name of ship, distinctive number or letters and port of registry;

- (b) name and principal place of business of the registered owner;
- (c) IMO ship identification number;
- (d) type and duration of security;
- (e) name and principal place of business of insurer or other person giving security and, where appropriate, place of business where the insurance or security is established;
- (f) period of validity of the certificate which shall not be longer than the period of validity of the insurance or other security.
- 3 (a) A State Party may authorize either an institution or an organization recognized by it to issue the certificate referred to in paragraph 2. Such institution or organization shall inform that State of the issue of each certificate. In all cases, the State Party shall fully guarantee the completeness and accuracy of the certificate so issued and shall undertake to ensure the necessary arrangements to satisfy this obligation.
- (b) A State Party shall notify the Secretary-General of:
- (i) the specific responsibilities and conditions of the authority delegated to an institution or organization recognised by it;
- (ii) the withdrawal of such authority; and
- (iii) the date from which such authority or withdrawal of such authority takes effect.

An authority delegated shall not take effect prior to three months from the date on which notification to that effect was given to the Secretary-General.

- (c) The institution or organization authorized to issue certificates in accordance with this paragraph shall, as a minimum, be authorized to withdraw these certificates if the conditions under which they have been issued are not maintained. In all cases the institution or organization shall report such withdrawal to the State on whose behalf the certificate was issued.
- 4 The certificate shall be in the official language or languages of the issuing State. If the language used is not English, French or Spanish, the text shall include a translation into one of these languages and, where the State so decides, the official language of the State may be omitted.
- 5 The certificate shall be carried on board the ship and a copy shall be deposited with the authorities who keep the record of the ship's registry or, if the ship is not registered in a State Party, with the authorities issuing or certifying the certificate.
- 6 An insurance or other financial security shall not satisfy the requirements of this article if it can cease, for reasons other than the expiry of the period of validity of the insurance or security specified in the certificate under paragraph 2 of this article, before three months have elapsed from the date on which notice of its termination is given to the authorities referred to in paragraph 5 of this article, unless the certificate has been surrendered to these authorities or a new certificate has been issued within the said period. The foregoing provisions shall similarly apply to any modification which results in the insurance or security no longer satisfying the requirements of this article.
- 7 The State of the ship's registry shall, subject to the provisions of this article, determine the conditions of issue and validity of the certificate.

8 Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a State Party from relying on information obtained from other States or the Organization or other international organisations relating to the financial standing of providers of insurance or financial security for the purposes of this Convention. In such cases, the State Party relying on such information is not relieved of its responsibility as a State issuing the certificate required by paragraph 2.

9 Certificates issued or certified under the authority of a State Party shall be accepted by other States Parties for the purposes of this Convention and shall be regarded by other States Parties as having the same force as certificates issued or certified by them even if issued or certified in respect of a ship not registered in a State Party. A State Party may at any time request consultation with the issuing or certifying State should it believe that the insurer or guarantor named in the insurance certificate is not financially capable of meeting the obligations imposed by this Convention. 10 Any claim for compensation for pollution damage may be brought directly against the insurer or other person providing financial security for the registered owner's liability for pollution damage. In such a case the defendant may invoke the defences (other than bankruptcy or winding up of the shipowner) which the shipowner would have been entitled to invoke, including limitation pursuant to article 6. Furthermore, even if the shipowner is not entitled to limitation of liability according to article 6, the defendant may limit liability to an amount equal to the amount of the insurance or other financial security required to be maintained in accordance with paragraph 1. Moreover, the defendant may invoke the defence that the pollution damage resulted from the wilful misconduct of the shipowner, but the defendant shall not invoke any other defence which the defendant might have been entitled to invoke in proceedings brought by the shipowner against the defendant. The defendant shall in any event have the right to require the shipowner to be joined in the proceedings.

11 A State Party shall not permit a ship under its flag to which this article applies to operate at any time, unless a certificate has been issued under paragraphs 2 or 14.

12 Subject to the provisions of this article, each State Party shall ensure, under its national law, that insurance or other security, to the extent specified in paragraph 1, is in force in respect of any ship having a gross tonnage greater than 1000, wherever registered, entering or leaving a port in its territory, or arriving at or leaving an offshore facility in its territorial sea. 13 Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 5, a State Party may notify the Secretary-General that, for the purposes of paragraph 12, ships are not required to carry on board or to produce the certificate required by paragraph 2, when entering or leaving ports or arriving at or leaving from offshore facilities in its territory, provided that the State Party which issues the certificate required by paragraph 2 has notified the Secretary-General that it maintains records in an electronic format, accessible to all States Parties, attesting the existence of the certificate and enabling States Parties to discharge their obligations under paragraph 12.

14 If insurance or other financial security is not maintained in respect of a ship owned by a State Party, the provisions of this article relating thereto

shall not be applicable to such ship, but the ship shall carry a certificate issued by the appropriate authority of the State of the ship's registry stating that the ship is owned by that State and that the ship's liability is covered within the limit prescribed in accordance with paragraph 1. Such a certificate shall follow as closely as possible the model prescribed by paragraph 2.

15 A State may, at the time of ratification, acceptance, approval of, or accession to this Convention, or at any time thereafter, declare that this article does not apply to ships operating exclusively within the area of that State referred to in article 2(a)(i).

#### Article 8 **Time limits**

Rights to compensation under this Convention shall be extinguished unless an action is brought thereunder within three years from the date when the damage occurred. However, in no case shall an action be brought more than six years from the date of the incident which caused the damage. Where the incident consists of a series of occurrences, the six-years' period shall run from the date of the first such occurrence.

#### Article 9 **Jurisdiction**

- 1 Where an incident has caused pollution damage in the territory, including the territorial sea, or in an area referred to in article 2(a)(ii) of one or more States Parties, or preventive measures have been taken to prevent or minimise pollution damage in such territory, including the territorial sea, or in such area, actions for compensation against the shipowner, insurer or other person providing security for the shipowner's liability may be brought only in the courts of any such States Parties.
- 2 Reasonable notice of any action taken under paragraph 1 shall be given to each defendant.
- 3 Each State Party shall ensure that its courts have jurisdiction to entertain actions for compensation under this Convention.

### Article 10 **Recognition and enforcement**

- 1 Any judgement given by a Court with jurisdiction in accordance with article 9 which is enforceable in the State of origin where it is no longer subject to ordinary forms of review, shall be recognised in any State Party, except:
- (a) where the judgement was obtained by fraud; or
- (b) where the defendant was not given reasonable notice and a fair opportunity to present his or her case.

2 A judgement recognised under paragraph 1 shall be enforceable in each State Party as soon as the formalities required in that State have been complied with. The formalities shall not permit the merits of the case to be re-opened.

#### Article 11 **Supersession Clause**

This Convention shall supersede any Convention in force or open for signature, ratification or accession at the date on which this Convention is opened for signature, but only to the extent that such Convention would be in conflict with it; however, nothing in this article shall affect the obligations of States Parties to States not party to this Convention arising under such Convention.

#### Article 12 Signature, ratification, acceptance, approval and accession

- 1 This Convention shall be open for signature at the Headquarters of the Organization from 1 October 2001 until 30 September 2002 and shall thereafter remain open for accession.
- 2 States may express their consent to be bound by this Convention by:
- (a) signature without reservation as to ratification, acceptance or approval;
- (b) signature subject to ratification, acceptance or approval followed by ratification, acceptance or approval; or
- (c) accession.
- 3 Ratification, acceptance, approval or accession shall be effected by the deposit of an instrument to that effect with the Secretary-General.
- 4 Any instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession deposited after the entry into force of an amendment to this Convention with respect to all existing State Parties, or after the completion of all measures required for the entry into force of the amendment with respect to those State Parties shall be deemed to apply to this Convention as modified by the amendment.

### Article 13 **States with more than one system of law**

- 1 If a State has two or more territorial units in which different systems of law are applicable in relation to matters dealt with in this Convention, it may at the time of signature, ratification, acceptance, approval or accession declare that this Convention shall extend to all its territorial units or only to one or more of them and may modify this declaration by submitting another declaration at any time.
- 2 Any such declaration shall be notified to the Secretary-General and shall state expressly the territorial units to which this Convention applies.

- 3 In relation to a State Party which has made such a declaration:
- (a) in the definition of "registered owner" in article 1(4), references to a State shall be construed as references to such a territorial unit;
- (b) references to the State of a ship's registry and, in relation to a compulsory insurance certificate, to the issuing or certifying State, shall be construed as referring to the territorial unit respectively in which the ship is registered and which issues or certifies the certificate;
- (c) references in this Convention to the requirements of national law shall be construed as references to the requirements of the law of the relevant territorial unit; and
- (d) references in articles 9 and 10 to courts, and to judgements which must be recognized in States Parties, shall be construed as references respectively to courts of, and to judgements which must be recognized in, the relevant territorial unit.

### Article 14 **Entry into Force**

- 1. This Convention shall enter into force one year following the date on which 18 States, including five States each with ships whose combined gross tonnage is not less than 1,000,000, have either signed it without reservation as to ratification, acceptance or approval or have deposited instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession with the Secretary-General.
- 2 For any State which ratifies, accepts, approves or accedes to it after the conditions in paragraph 1 for entry into force have been met, this Convention shall enter into force three months after the date of deposit by such State of the appropriate instrument.

#### Article 15 **Denunciation**

- 1 This Convention may be denounced by any State Party at any time after the date on which this Convention comes into force for that State.
- 2 Denunciation shall be effected by the deposit of an instrument with the Secretary-General.
- 3 A denunciation shall take effect one year, or such longer period as may be specified in the instrument of denunciation, after its deposit with the Secretary-General.

### Article 16 **Revision or amendment**

1 A conference for the purpose of revising or amending this Convention may be convened by the Organization.

2 The Organization shall convene a conference of the States Parties for revising or amending this Convention at the request of not less than one-third of the States Parties.

#### Article 17 **Depositary**

- 1 This Convention shall be deposited with the Secretary-General.
- 2 The Secretary-General shall:
- (a) inform all States which have signed or acceded to this Convention of:
- (i) each new signature or deposit of instrument together with the date thereof;
- (ii) the date of entry into force of this Convention;
- (iii) the deposit of any instrument of denunciation of this Convention together with the date of the deposit and the date on which the denunciation takes effect; and
- (iv) other declarations and notifications made under this Convention.
- (b) transmit certified true copies of this Convention to all Signatory States and to all States which accede to this Convention.

#### Article 18 **Transmission to United Nations**

As soon as this Convention comes into force, the text shall be transmitted by the Secretary-General to the Secretariat of the United Nations for registration and publication in accordance with Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

#### Article 19 **Languages**

This Convention is established in a single original in the Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish languages, each text being equally authentic.

**Done at London** this twenty-third day of March two thousand and one.